Utterts | X1t Bl B A R 22 B
BR1XL) Ulferts International Limited

Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited Iiabilityl(_Sfodk Code: 1711)
REBEMAL 2BRART (RHASE : 1711)




CONTENTS
B &%

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
AFENREEAMY

RESULTS SUMMARY

REHE

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEFWED AN

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EXSRSREEEZBE

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEERE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERRE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZHE RS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERBERAEMEEKER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mERREER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBHE

15

18

29

49

55

56

57

58

60

116



CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES
AAERNEERH

Directors 5=

Wong Chi Fai (Chairman) BEE(FE)
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R 58

Mok Fung Lin, Ivy RERE

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa B8R

Chan Yee Man** Bk sy 2>

Chiu Kin Fai** R

Ng Hoi Yue** g

** Independent Non-executive Directors T EUERTES
Company Secretary NEWE

Mok Fung Lin, Ivy RE=E

Audit Committee EREEE
Chan Yee Man (Chairperson) BRAZ(EE)
Chiu Kin Fai 1 e i

Ng Hoi Yue mETF
Remuneration Committee FHEES

Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman) hsF(£E)
Wong Chi Fai oy

Chan Yee Man PR E
Nomination Committee REZES
Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman) BEEE (£ )
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa DR QL

Chan Yee Man PBRAE
Corporate Governance Committee TtEEREES
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Chairperson) BEIE(FE)
Chiu Kin Fai 1R fi i

Ng Hoi Yue hg+

A representative of company secretarial function —Z N R MERERE
A representative of finance and accounts function — B R g R
Executive Committee HITEES
Wong Chi Fai (Chairman) BEE(FE)
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R 58

Mok Fung Lin, Ivy RE=E

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa B8R

Ulferts International Limited Bi{L BB AR A 7
Annual Report 2017/2018 &3}



CORPORATE INFORMATION AND KEY DATES

AFERREERS

Auditors
Ernst & Young

Compliance Advisor
Octal Capital Limited

Investor Relations Contact

Luk Man Ching, Anna
Email: irt711@emperorgroup.com

Principal Bankers

The Bank of East Asia, Limited
Chong Hing Bank Limited
The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business

Units 1905-07, 19th Floor
Emperor Group Centre
288 Hennessy Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Share Registrar

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

Website
http://www.ulferts.com.hk

Stock Code
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 1711

Key Dates
Annual Results Announcement 27 June 2018
2018 Annual General Meeting 16 August 2018

BB
X G ENE A

B R
NTEBERRAR

REEAEBHBEN
B S AF

EH :ir1711@emperorgroup.com

TEAERRIT
RGRITAERRAT
BIEERIT AR QA

BB LBECRITERAT

SRR EERTESE T
BB BT

STJEFIB 288 57
HEEEFPL

19 # 1905-07 =

RIBBFERE

BEWEEKEAER AT
EEEFKRER 183 5
B 22 12

vk

http://www.ulferts.com.hk
IR 43R 5%
BERBMERZS 1711

EEZRH

FEEENM 2018 £ 6 A 27 H
2018 IR AF KE 2018 8 A 16 H

Ulferts International Limited @{tEIFR B R A &)

Annual Report 2017/2018 &3



RESULTS SUMMARY

RERE

For the year ended 31 March
BE3A31BLEFE

Revenue WA
Gross profit E7

Net profit 47|

2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT
258,553 224,331
163,922 145,304
8,477 30,145
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WA

Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is a leading retailer
of high quality home furniture mainly imported from Europe,
and the shares of the Company were newly listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in January 2018.

Established for over 40 years, the Group operated 16 points-of-
sale (“POS”) in Hong Kong, under three retail lines — “Ulferts”,
“Dormire” and “Eurodecor”, as well as online shopping
plattorms as at 31 March 2018. Dedicated to supplying high
quality, stylish and affordable furniture for transforming into ideal
homes, “Ulferts” and “Eurodecor” offered a wide variety of
contemporary style furniture products targeting middle to high
income groups. “Dormire” on the other hand offered mattresses,
pillows, sofas and other ancillary items under the Group’s self-
owned brand “Ulfenbo” targeting at the mass market. Such
products were distributed through other retail networks such
as department store counters and roadshows and also through
wholesaling to about 260 dealers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WA DT

MARKET REVIEW

With strong sales performances in the primary home market
and a record breaking run of surging secondary home prices,
the volume of residential property transactions remained active
during the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Year”). Supported
by an organic expansion of local household formation and
continuous arrivals of family-base immigrants, the Hong Kong
property market continued to grow.

Thanks to a lower unemployment rate, growing middle class,
and a stronger sense of optimism regarding the local economy,
local consumer confidence started to surge. Additionally, the
positive wealth effect resulting from the stock market boom and
an ongoing rise in property prices, in turn encouraged local
residents to increase investments in new apartments or renovate
their existing flats. With a gradual increase in household income
and enhancement of living standards, residents have greater
awareness of product quality, hence demand for high quality
imported home furniture has continued to rise.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Overall Review

In line with the store network expansion and increasing market
demand for quality home furniture, the Group’s total revenue
registered growth of 15.3% to HK$258.6 million (2017: HK$224.3
million) during the Year. Revenue of the retail segment
increased by 15.1% to HK$239.3 million (2017: HK$207.9
million) and remained a key revenue contributor, accounting for
92.6% (2017: 92.6%) of the Group’s total revenue. Gross profit
grew by 12.8% to HK$163.9 million (2017: HK$145.3 million).
Due to an increase of purchase price of the furniture products
amid the appreciation of Euro, the gross profit margin slightly
decreased to 63.4% (2017: 64.8%).

The Group’s net profit for the year was HK$8.5 million (2017:
HK$30.1 million). Such decline was primarily due to the
recognition of the one-off listing expenses, as well as the
increase in rental expense and overhead arising from new POS
and the softened performance of gross profit margin. The listing
expenses mainly comprised of legal and other professional fees
in connection with the Company’s initial public offering. The
board of directors (the “Board” or “Directors”) of the Company
did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WA

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The shares of the Company were successfully listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on 29 January 2018 and there has
been no change in share capital structure of the Company since
then. As at 31 March 2018, the Company had 800 million shares
in issue.

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group as at 31 March 2018
amounted to HK$83.4 million (2017: HK$39.8 million), which
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 March
2018, the bank borrowings of the Group was HK$19.8 million
(2017: Nil), and hence its gearing ratio (calculated on the basis
of the total borrowings over total equity) was 17.1% (2017:
Nil). The Group also had available unutilised banking facilities
of approximately HK$34.2 million as at 31 March 2018. The
adequate liquidity and unutilised banking facilities enable the
Group to retain high flexibility for future development.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$146.0 million (2017:
HK$90.8 million) and HK$56.7 million (2017: HK$34.9 million),
respectively. As at 31 March 2018, current ratio and quick
ratio of the Group were 2.6 (2017: 2.6) and 1.8 (2017: 1.7),
respectively.

In view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2018,
the Board considered that the Group had sufficient working
capital for its operations and future development plans.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEmEDT

Use of Proceeds FERERR
The final offer price for the listing was HK$0.56 per share, and iz &K HEBATR056E T - M. LW

the actual net proceeds from the listing were approximately 7 & B BT830 IB % 58 4 /592,600,000 7T o
HK$92.6 million. This amount was higher than the estimated net |t &% 5 R £ 15 B H1 A20185F1 8168 2 18
proceeds of approximately HK$81.3 million, which was based % & 12 F7 #; 58 ~ % & (& F (i £ & fR0.507% 7T
on a mid-point offer price of HK$0.50 per share, as disclosed in 5+ & 7 {L5T P15 538/ F 58 4981,300,000/%8 7T °
the prospectus dated 16 January 2018. In light of the difference ZEREREFB EREtHeEEHEE
between the actual and estimated amount of the net proceeds, £ ' A&£EBERFABAREEMRZAERIE
the Group has adjusted the use of proceeds as shown in the & :

prospectus:
Actual use of
net proceeds
*Adjusted up to 31
use of net March
proceeds 2018
BZE2018%F
BB 33182
P8 TR BERAAE
FERAZ RIBFEAZ
HK$ million HK$ million
BEBT BEBT
Capital expenditure, rental deposits and % [at e home | T & 5 2 &R
overhead expenses for opening of T HERERKEEHER
“atehome’ retail stores 34.2 -
Strengthening the Group’s product portfolio BIEAEBERMEE 24.2 0.8
Enhance “Ulfenbo’ sales channels and brand &8 [B/L & | EREEREN
awareness migEEE 10.3 -
Capital expenditure, rental deposits and R [BIEGRHR]ITEEZER
overhead expenses for opening of T HERSREENHER
an “Ulferts” retail store 9.1 -
Upgrade information technology FREMB RS 5.7 -
General working capital —REEBEER 9.1 9.1
Total &3t 92.6 9.9
* The breakdown of the planned use of net proceeds has been * BT 18 5K 18 ¥ 58 2 5T 2 F7 4 1 0E B 12 B B AT
adjusted based on the actual total net proceeds of HK$92.6 72 0B F B8 A 292,600,000/ 7T K ik =
million and in the same proportion allocated to each of its usage AT #7387 ] 2 5 B /7 % 2 16 ] 1 ) it 1E
as disclosed in the prospectus. BB o
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WA DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

Retail Business
Effective Market Segmentation

A clearly identifiable market segmentation analysis is essential
for enabling the Group to successfully identify targeted groups
of consumers in order to define product range and effectively
implement branding and marketing strategies.

“Ulferts”, as the Group’s core retail label, is dedicated to
providing high quality and stylish furniture for its customers
to transform into ideal homes. To offer a wide variety of
contemporary style furniture products targeting middle to high
income groups, the Group operates “Ulferts” showrooms across
Hong Kong, together with a “Eurodecor” store in Happy Valley.

“Ulfenbo” products focus on the mass market need for furniture
enabling good quality sleep, at affordable prices. To facilitate
the retailing of “Ulfenbo” products, the Group operates
“Dormire” specialty stores which are typically small in scale,
and are designed with a casual and relaxing environment, to
highlight smart living style.

Diverse Product Portfolio

The Group offers a wide variety of furniture products — ranging
from leather sofas, cabinets, dining tables and chairs, through
wardrobes, coffee tables and sideboards, to beds; these
are imported from European and Asian countries. The Group
currently carries around 50 furniture brands in “Ulferts”
showrooms and “Eurodecor” stores, including international
brands such as Himolla, Gamma, Nicolettihome, Kristalia
and Domicil, with which the Group has built long-standing
relationship. In addition, the Group has been continuously
expanding its product portfolio to include accessories such
as paintings, carpets and other decorative items in “Ulferts”
showrooms.

The Group also offers mattresses, pillows, sofas, sofa beds,
adjustable beds, as well as other ancillary items such as
mattress protectors and mattress toppers under its self-
owned label “Ulfenbo”. The Group provides different models
of mattresses, in various sizes with varying supports, to meet
diverse customer needs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WA DT

Comprehensive Retail Sales Channels

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 16 POS (2017: 12) in Hong
Kong. The number of outlets in each retail line are as follows:

2ENEEHERE

R2018F3A31H » AEENEE R A 161EH
B2 (2017F - 12ff) - RTEHRZTEER
BT :

Retail Line Number of POS
ZEH SHEX=A
“Ulferts” [B1EEH 6
“Dormire” and department store counters [ ZHEL | LA EAREIE 9
“Eurodecor’ [J5_ 1
Total &5f 16

“Ulferts” showrooms are strategically located in either upscale
residential areas or major shopping areas, targeting middle
to high income groups. Meanwhile, the “Eurodecor” store is
located in Happy Valley, a traditional luxury residential area
clustering with high-end furniture shops. With its solid presence
in these mature locations with resilient foot traffic, the Group
enjoys more visitations and a high brand reputation.

The Group continues to strengthen its market presence
through expanding its retail network. In July 2017, an “Ulferts”
showroom was opened in Telford Plaza Il in Kowloon East, which
is an emerging shopping area and surrounded by large-scale
residential developments in the vicinity. This allows the Group
to reach quality end-users of furniture in Kowloon. In addition,
three “Dormire” specialty stores (one in Tsuen Wan and two
in Tseung Kwan O) and one department store counter in Sham
Shui Po were opened during the Year. The new POS have
yielded a positive impact on the Group’s sales performance.

Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
Annual Report 2017/2018 F 5§
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WA DT

Excellent Customers Shopping Experience

“Ulferts” showrooms are spacious, with a stylish and cozy
environment, enabling the Group to display a wide spectrum
of products and allow customers to touch and feel the actual
furniture, its colour tones and the texture, to maximise the
customers’ shopping experience. The ambience, setting and
placement of furniture within the distinctive display zones have
all been tailor-designed by a dedicated visual merchandising
team to impart harmonious, home-like comfort. The salesforce
is well-trained and offers customers advice on their purchasing
needs. In recognition of its service excellence, the Group was
awarded the “Service Retailer of the Year 2017” in Furniture
& Home Accessories Category, in the Mystery Shoppers
Programme organised by the Hong Kong Retail Management
Association (“HKRMA”). In addition, the Group earned several
accolades in the “2017 Service & Courtesy Award” of the
HKRMA, namely the “Best Team Performance Award - Silver
Award” (in retail industry), the “Winner of Supervisory Level”
(in Furniture & Home Accessories Category) and the “Winner
of Junior Frontline Level” (in Furniture & Home Accessories
Category).

Diversified Marketing Strategies

The Group believes that brand recognition is crucial for driving
long-term growth and success. To enhance brand awareness,
the Group conducted a range of marketing and promotional
campaigns spanning TV commercials, print advertisements,
outdoor advertising, social media engagements on regular
basis. It also launched promotional campaigns such as seasonal
sale, annual sale and stock clearance sale, as well as joint
promotions with banks and reward programme such as Asia
Miles.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B WA DT

In April 2017, the Group supported The Chinese Sports &
Recreations Association, a non-profit-making organisation in
Hong Kong that advocates sports programs for children, by
sponsoring its annual event, “Super Kids Championship and
Streetathons” under the “Ulfenbo” brand. The sponsorship gave
the Group an opportunity to establish closer community ties,
and enhanced the “Ulfenbo” brand’s association with a healthy
lifestyle.

To commemorate the opening of Telford showroom, Mr. Hacken
Lee, a famous singer in Greater China, was invited to officiate
the grand opening together with the Group’s management and
other honourable guests. The event has been widely reported
in the media, which helps to further enhance Ulferts’ brand
awareness as well as propagate the opening of this new
showroom.

Wholesale Business

The Group also operates wholesale business of mattresses,
sofabeds and sofas under its self-owned label “Ulfenbo”
through about 260 dealers in Hong Kong and Macau. Based on
its long establishment and quality products, the “Ulfenbo” brand
has been recognised by the “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark”
for four consecutive years since 2014, under the Hong Kong
Top Brand Scheme organised by the Chinese Manufacturers
Association of Hong Kong and Hong Kong Brand Development
Council.

During the Year, the Group appointed Ms. Kelly Cheung,
a famous artiste and an internet sensation, as the brand
ambassador for “Ulfenbo” products. Marketing materials
featuring her were produced since September 2017, presenting
a fresh image for the “Ulfenbo” brand.

Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB D

Special Projects

Complementing its retail and wholesale business, the Group has
a special projects division, which undertakes furniture-related
projects primarily for corporate customers. The division provides
service ranging from planning and design, through procuring
custom-made furniture to final installation for corporate
customers, as well as consultation and liaison services with
furniture manufacturers. During the Year, the Group undertook a
variety of furniture-related projects, mainly for offices, cinemas,
hotels and tertiary institutions.

PROSPECTS

With solid economic fundamentals and a positive wealth effect,
it is expected that demand in the local residential property
market, especially from investors and young couples looking
for small flats, will continue to grow. Coupled with the positive
consumption sentiment and diversified market demand for
quality furniture products, the outlook for the home furniture
retail business is promising.

The year ahead will continue to be a year of expansion and
foundation building of the Group. The Group will further expand
its POS network to capture the expected rising demand for
furniture in the coming years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB WmEDN

The trend towards smaller home sizes will boost the demand
for small and compact furniture for new families in Hong Kong.
In order to capture the market opportunity, the Group intends
to diversify into furniture products that better cater for small
residential units or with special features and functions to serve
the more diverse needs of modern families in small apartments.
The Group plans to launch a new retail line of stores under “at
e home” gearing towards mid-range segment, and targeting
particularly young couples. At least one “at ® home” store is
scheduled to open in the second half of 2018. Meanwhile, the
Group continues to expand its retail footprint by opening one
“Ulferts Signature” showroom, a premium line of “Ulferts”, and
at least one “Dormire” specialty store, in the second half of
2018.

Following the successful fund raising through the Company’s
initial public offering during the Year, the Group will pursue
a proactive expansion strategy, by increasing its POS and
exploring value-enhancing opportunities while optimising the
overall capital structure, in order to seize opportunities and
enhance its competitiveness in the marketplace.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2018, the Group’s number of employees
was 133 (2017: 120). Total staff costs including Directors’
remuneration and the staff costs for the Year were HK$44.3
million (2017: HK$36.9 million). Employees’ remuneration was
determined in accordance with individual’s responsibility,
competence and skills, experience and performance as well
as market pay level. Staff benefits include medical and life
insurance, provident funds and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentives or rewards to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which are set out
in the section headed “Share Options” of this annual report.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHEEEZER

Executive Director (Chairman)

WONG CHI FAI, aged 62, an Executive Director of the Company
and Chairman of the Board. Mr. Wong has been involved in
the management of the Group since 1992. He is responsible
for overseeing the financial management and advising on the
business strategic planning and development of our Group.
He is the Chairman of the Executive Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company as well as a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a
director of four listed companies in Hong Kong, namely Emperor
International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 163) (“Emperor
International”), Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited (Stock
Code: 296) (“Emperor E Hotel”), Emperor Watch & Jewellery
Limited (Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J") and Emperor
Culture Group Limited (Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture
Group”), all being associated companies of the Company.
Having over 30 years of experience in finance and management
experience, Mr. Wong has diversified experiences in different
businesses ranging from wholesaling and retailing of furniture
to manufacturing, property investment and development,
hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial
and securities services, artiste management, entertainment
production and investment, media and publication as well as
cinema development and operation. Mr. Wong is a Certified
Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants.

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

NG KOON KEUNG, RICKY, aged 49, an Executive Director
of the Company and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.
Mr. Ng joined the Group in January 2014 and is responsible
for the overall management of the Group and planning the
Group’s business and strategies. He is a member of the
Executive Committee as well as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Ng has over 20 years’ experience in
retail, product planning, operations, marketing and business
development and was employed by well-known retail brands
in telecommunication and consumables goods and luxury
accessories in Hong Kong. He joined TSL Jewellery (H.K.)
Co. Ltd. in August 2009 as general manager (Hong Kong,
Macau and Malaysia) and was Director of Sales and Business
Development (HK and Overseas) when he left in January
2014. He was Assistant Vice President, Channel Marketing
at PCCW Limited from October 2006 to March 2009. Mr. Ng
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration awarded by Hong
Kong Baptist College (now Hong Kong Baptist University). He
also holds a Degree of Master of Management in Marketing
Management and a Degree of Master of Business Administration
awarded by Macquaire University, Sydney Australia.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHEEEZER

Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer

MOK FUNG LIN, IVY, aged 53, an Executive Director of the
Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group. Ms.
Mok joined the Group in July 2011 and is responsible for the
business operational management and policy implementation in
the Group. She is the Company Secretary of the Company and
a member of the Executive Committee as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Before joining our Group,
Ms. Mok was a director of Emperor International and Emperor
E Hotel from February 2000 to July 2011 and has accrued over
15 years’ experience in corporate management and possesses
experience in businesses including property investment and
development, retailing, wholesaling, marketing and trading in
Hong Kong. Ms. Mok was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong
and the United Kingdom, and holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree
awarded by The University of Hong Kong. She also holds a
Degree of Master of Business Administration awarded by The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

Executive Director

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 55, an Executive Director
of the Company. Ms. Fan has been involved in the management
of the Group since July 1992. She is responsible for overseeing
the overall corporate and advising on the business strategy of
the Group. She is the Chairperson of the Corporate Governance
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Executive Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Fan is also a director
of Emperor International, Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J and
Emperor Culture Group. Having over 29 years of corporate
management experience, Ms. Fan possesses diversified
experience in different businesses ranging from wholesaling and
retailing of furniture to property investment and development,
hotel and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial
and securities services, artiste management, entertainment
production and investment, media and publication as well as
cinema development and operation. Ms. Fan is a lawyer by
profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and holds
a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHEEEZER

Independent Non-executive Director

CHAN YEE MAN, aged 44, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in January 2018. She
is the Chairperson of the Audit Committee as well as a member
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Chan has been practising as a Certified
Public Accountant in Hong Kong and has over 25 years of
experience in the accounting profession. She holds a Bachelor
of Accounting Degree awarded by The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Corporate Finance Degree awarded by The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Ms. Chan is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and an associate member of The Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

CHIU KIN FAIl, aged 44, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as a member of
the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee of
the Company. Mr. Chiu is a partner of a solicitors firm, T.H. Koo
& Associates. He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong and
holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree awarded by The University of
Hong Kong.

Independent Non-executive Director

NG HOI YUE, aged 54, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company in January 2018. He is the
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well as a member
of the Audit Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company. Mr. Ng is currently an executive director and
Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Asian Citrus Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 73) and an independent non-executive director
of Emperor Culture Group and Imperial Pacific International
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1076), all are listed companies
in Hong Kong. He has been practising as a Certified Public
Accountant in Hong Kong since 1989. Mr. Ng is a fellow member
of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in England.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 55 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK12 cents per share for the Year (2017:
Nil) amounting to HK$72.0 million (2017: nil) was paid to Ulferts
International Group Holdings Limited, the sole shareholder of
the Company, prior to the listing of the shares of the Company
during the year.

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the Year and an analysis of
the likely future development of the Group’s business are set
out in the Management Discussion and Analysis from pages 5
to 14. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from
pages 29 to 48 of this annual report and note 30 to the financial
statements.

There is no important event affecting the Group that had
occurred since the end of the Year up to the date of this report.

In addition, discussion on the key relationships with the
Company’s key stakeholders, the Group’s environmental policies
and performance as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group are
set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group are set out in note 13 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

RETAINED PROFITS

Details of movements in the retained profits of the Group during
the Year are set out on page 57 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”)
(2017: HK$65,000).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last four financial years is set out on page 116
of this annual report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Share Option Scheme as disclosed in note 23
to the financial statements, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at the
end of the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yee Man (appointed on 8 January 2018)
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (appointed on 8 January 2018)
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (appointed on 8 January 2018)

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management as
at the date of this report are set out from pages 15 to 17 of this
annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 8 to the financial statements.
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In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association,
all Directors will retire by rotation at the 2018 Annual General
Meeting ("“AGM”) and, being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election thereat.

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the
2018 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of all directors who have served on the boards of
the subsidiaries of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of this annual report are set out below and they are also
Directors of the Company:

Mr. Wong Chi Fai

Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business were entered into or existed during
the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
has in force permitted indemnity provisions which are provided
for in the Company’s Articles of Association and in the directors
and officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in
respect of potential liability and costs associated with legal
proceedings that may be brought against the Directors and the
directors of the Group respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”) as recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers adopted by the
Company were as follows:

(A) Long position interests in the Company
Ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”)

None of the Directors or chief executives of the Company
had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company.

(B) Long position interests in ordinary shares of associated
corporation
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Number of associated Capacity/Nature shares held  Approximate
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EEHE HEEE A8 5t/ ERME HERHEAE BAER%
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Emperor International Beneficial owner 10,500,000 0.29%
Vanessa HEZER EnlEAA
SeEERL L
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of B EXWEES) - R20185F3A310 - MEE

the Directors nor chief executives of the Company had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO).
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SHARE OPTIONS

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018 to provide incentive or
rewards to participants including the Directors and eligible
employees of the Group. Particulars of the Share Option Scheme
are set out in note 23 to the financial statements. No share
options were granted under the Share Option Scheme since its
adoption.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share options as stated above, at the end of the
Year and at no time during the Year was the Company, any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their spouse or children under 18 years of age
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors nor their respective
close associates was interested in any business which was
considered to compete or is likely to compete, either directly
or indirectly, with the business of the Group as required to
be disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing
Rules”).

OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 March 2018, so far as is known to any Director or chief
executives of the Company, the persons or corporations (other
than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) who had,
or were deemed or taken to have an interest and short position
in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”)
or as otherwise notified to the Company were as follows:
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Long position in the Shares R 2 iF &

Capacity/Nature
of interests

B0/ HEEtE

Name

mE /£

Albert Yeung Holdings Limited
(*AY Holdings”)
BRXREFXZERBRRAA
(TG Z R EFRER])

REERR 2R

STC International Limited
(“STC International”)
AY TrustZ 25t A

Founder of the AY Trust
AY TrustZ I3 A

Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert
(“Dr. Albert Yeung”)

BEKET((HBELT]
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) Bl B
e @4+ (THEA L)
Note:

These shares were held by Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of AY Holdings. AY Holdings was held by
STC International in trust for the AY Trust, a discretionary trust set up
by Dr. Albert Yeung. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Albert Yeung
as founder of the AY Trust, Ms. Semon Luk had deemed interests in the
same Shares.

All interests stated above represent long position. As at 31
March 2018, no short position was recorded in the DI Register.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Directors or
chief executives of the Company were not aware of any person
or corporation (other than the Directors and chief executives of
the Company) who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any
interests or short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares
as recorded in the DI Register or as otherwise notified to the

Company.

Interest in a controlled corporation

Trustee of The Albert Yeung
Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”)

Number of

issued shares
held Approximate
s e 84T % holding
B2 2 B WK%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
600,000,000 75%
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B FXHBEES - R2018F3A31H - EF
RABEBZITHA BN B EA AT
(REZRARBEBITHABIN REM
BOKBEERDPEESIR B ENEERES
NHAERECMAERTHNEARRAZE
S AR -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, EERXRE RSN ZEXR
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS AND BEX S

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, the Group had the following transactions with RAEER  AEFLEHEEA T (FER L
connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the TR ETTHKS ¢

Company:

A. Tenancy Agreements T & 1 i

(i) Date of agreement
= B

(i) Term
15 5% 5 28 Amount for
Name of counterparty Location (D/MZY) the Year
HhH &R 1t B (B/B/%) rEEZEH
(HK$'000)
(F4&7T)
Golden Pegasus Investment Shops 7-11 on G/F, 1/F and 2/F (i) 31/03/2015 1,176
Limited (Note 1) (including the entrance hall on G/F to (ii)01/04/2015 -
CREEEBRAR (H:71) 1/F and 2/F), Wei King Building, 07/06/2018
275 Chatham Road North, (early terminated
Hung Hom, Kowloon on 01/08/2017
(as retail shop) 20178 A1H
BB ALH %R Rl B 162755 BR A L)

Bt T E7-119%40 -
—BR-E(BEHTEZ
—BRERZEBOAOKRE) EZEERR)

M/F, 1-9/F and parking spaces (i) 31/03/2015 9,685*
(excluding Nos. 9 and 10) (ii)01/04/2015 -
on G/F, The Ulferts Centre, 31/03/2018

4 Kin Fat Lane, Tuen Mun,

New Territories, Hong Kong

(as warehouse)
BETACHREBAFRIEMRERF O
HEEE - 1-918 Kt FRE(

(N BIEEH K105 BER)

(FERERAR)
Headwise Investment Limited Units 1206-07, 12th Floor, (i) 31/03/2016 1,165*
(Note 1) Emperor Group Centre, (ii))01/04/2016 —
BBREBRAR (K1) 288 Hennessy Road, 31/03/2018

Wanchai, Hong Kong

(for office use)
BBEHHEFEBSREEZEEHF
12181206-07% ({EH A ERAR)

National Goal Limited (Note 1) Shop No. U31, Upper Ground Floor and (iy 11/11/2016 456*
REERAR (HiE1) lightbox, Fitfort, No. 560 King’s Road, (ii)01/10/2016 -

North Point, Hong Kong 30/09/2019

(as retail shop)

B AR 2E560%

R E U 1RHE (F2EERR)

* Discloseable continuing connected transactions B¥FEZ HEHEL S
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

B. Provision of Products and Servic

Name of counterparty

HEER

AY Holdings (Note 2) and its
subsidiaries

BXREFEER(H22)
REMERA

es SHEEMMIRE

(i) Date of agreement
th= A

(i) Term

1th o £ 2

(D/M/Y)

(R/B/%)

Amount for
the Year
AEEZEE
(HK$'000)
(F&T)

Scope of Products
and Services provided

Rz EmRRBHE

A master agreement including: 7,741*

IRHEEE:

(i)  Selling products and providing
consultancy services to members of
AY Holdings and its subsidiaries
RGEEKELEERIEMNBARBEEER
RER a4 ARS

(i) 15/01/2018
(ii) 29/01/2018 -
31/03/2020

Sell furniture coupons

RERMBDES

Providing other type of ancillary services
and any transaction of revenue nature
REAMRL 2 RERS REMREYE
B25

.
~

* Discloseable continuing connected transactions B¥HEZHEHEL 5

C. Expenses and service fee paid 2B X R REE

Name of counterparty

HEEW

Emperor Capital Group Limited
(“Emperor Capital Group”) and its
subsidiaries (Note 3)

HERSEEBRAT
([REFHFEE]) REMBAT
(H1:23)

Notes:

1. The counterparties of the agreements are indirect wholly- 1. 1
owned subsidiaries of Emperor International. Both the YiN

Scope of Expense Amount for
and Services fee paid the Year
ENEXRREESHE REEC SR
(HK$'000)

(F#&T)

(i)  Sponsor and financial advisory fees 1,257

RERVBERE

(i) Underwriting commission 3,360

12%:Likn

Ht it
BETAREBAR HEE2ENBAR -
RE R HE 2B B HMAY Trustf S

Company and Emperor International are indirectly controlled

by the AY Trust.

2. The counterparty of the agreement is indirectly controlled by 2. 1 %5 BAY TrustRIE 124 o

the AY Trust.

3. Both the Company and Emperor Capital Group are indirectly 3.

controlled by the AY Trust.

ADBRREFEF KRBT HAY TrustZ2H)

Ulferts International Limited B{tEIFRE R A T
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Compliance with Disclosure Requirements
Included in the “Related Party Transactions” as set out in
note 26(a) to the financial statements, the “project sales” in
the amount of HK$4,169,000 and the “rentals” in the amount
of HK$11,306,000 as incorporated respectively in item B and
item A of the above transactions are discloseable continuing
connected transactions of the Group. The Company had applied
for and the Stock Exchange had granted a waiver from the strict
compliance with the announcement and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for such
non-exempt continuing connected transactions.

Auditors’ Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report
on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
(Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Review of Historical Financial Information” and with reference
to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’'s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“Auditor’s
Letter”).

Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter containing
their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group (“Disclosed
CCTs”) on pages 24 and 25 of this annual report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the Auditor’s
Letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Confirmation of

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
independent non-executive Directors (“INEDs”) have reviewed
the Disclosed CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and have confirmed
that these transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better (as the case may be);
and

(iii) according to the agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction, arrangement
or contract which is significant in relation to the business of
the Company to which the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or his/her connected entity had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the Year or at any time during the Year.

Ulferts International Limited B{LBIFRE R A 7
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRE

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of the INEDs are
independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A written remuneration policy (which ensures a clear link to
business strategy and a close alignment with the Shareholders’
interest and current market best practice) is in place and
the emoluments of Executive Directors will take into account
the Group’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. The INEDs are paid fees in line
with market practice. No individual should determine his or her
own remuneration.

Employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salary, Directors’
fee, contribution to pension schemes, discretionary bonus
relating to financial performance of the Group and individual
performance, and other competitive fringe benefits such as
medical and life insurances. Details of the emoluments of the
Directors and the five highest paid employees of the Group
are set out in note 8 and note 9 to the financial statements
respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate revenue from sales of goods
or rendering of services attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Year.

During the Year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the Group’s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 36.5% and 12.7%, respectively, of
the Group total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5%
of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any
beneficial interest in the above major suppliers of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from
pages 29 to 48 of this annual report.

BIYFHTES R IERE

ZAN/N *TETEJERﬁj#%M?%$$E}FL$%E
E'J%3131lm§"ﬁ2¢rﬁiﬁﬁma ZN/N
W ERBUFNTEFYRBIAL

i R
—Eiﬁﬁwﬁ“Kuﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ”uﬁw
g2 VEEFERRE A &ﬁﬂm%ﬁﬁ
ERIETHE MEETHTEZTZHEHE
BEBAEE 2 EEER FEHIALREAR
ALBMSHRAET - BYIFRTES 2 B
SUFEMBEMNZEEST A - WEMBAA
T gfTETEMSE -

EE%@HE*ET%AEE@E?}&HZ?T‘T <
BERBRALRTEHHMKFEE - FMEFE
B (R1E Rﬁﬁi)%$$ﬁ% %$?@i i
KEetEHR BEREEPFHERRLEAR
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS
During the Year, the Group made charitable donation amounting
to HK$1,000,000.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire at the forthcoming AGM and a
resolution for their reappointment as auditors of the Company
will be proposed thereat.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Chi Fai
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

The Corporate Governance Report is presented for the period
from 29 January 2018 (the “Listing Date”), being the date
the shares of the Company commenced trading on the Stock
Exchange to 31 March 2018 (the “Relevant Period”). The Board
is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for the Company within a sensible framework.
The Company has fully complied with all the provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during the Relevant Period.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2018, the Board comprised seven Directors,
with four Executive Directors and three INEDs who possess
the skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry
or relevant to the management of the business of the Group.
The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 15 to 17
of this annual report under the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” section.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 requires that the roles of the chairman and
chief executive officer should be separate and not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Wong Chi Fai has been appointed
as the Chairman of the Board who provides the Board with
strong and consistent leadership. With the support of the
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”), he
ensures that all Directors receive, in a timely manner, adequate
information and are properly briefed on issues arising at the
board meetings. He is responsible for ensuring that the Board
works effectively.

Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky is the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group who is responsible for the Group’s strategic planning,
business growth and development as well as overseeing
different functions. The day-to-day operation and management
of the Group’s businesses are delegated to Ms. Mok Fung Lin,
Ivy (Executive Director and Chief Operating Officer). The Board
considers that the current segregation of duties make the Board
and the operation of the Group function effectively.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The INEDs are all professionals with valuable experience and
expertise in legal, accounting or auditing in business areas who
contribute impartial view and make independent judgment on
issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Each of them has
been appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 8 January 2018. The terms of the INEDs are also subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election provision under the
Articles of Association of the Company.

Ei 2w BE2018F1 7298 ([ B H
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EEEHAMK
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RERERHRTESEASEEHEEMR
BB KBREREENBZ - ESREHN
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—ffie

EIERTHASR
STRMEXFA2AVEREERE RITHER 2 A
ERANTHBETEAR - ALELT =5EL
HRZAREFTSIR REFSRMRM
RRz2BE -EARB ZARAIWE ([REHW
ENDZWBT  BERDEEEA LE KR
ANEH REBFREANREZTERH LA
wmZEE  RAEHREFTSERLEE -

RERAEERAEB ZITREE  AELRE
BeRERE XBEERRER YEEER
ETRBE ATESREERERRER
TEERAEAKEXB 2 AREERER -
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SREARE

The Company had received confirmation of independence from
each of the INEDs. The Board considered each of them to be
independent by reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The INEDs had been expressly identified
as such in all corporate communications of the Company that
disclose the names of Directors.

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible for
the leadership, control and promotion of the success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance of
the Group.

Delegation to the Management

The management is led by the Executive Committee of the
Company (which comprises all the Executive Directors of the
Board) and has delegated powers and authorities to carry
out the day-to-day management and operation of the Group,
formulate business policies and make decision on key business
issues. The Executive Committee shall have all powers and
authorities of the Board except the following matters as set out
in a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved by the
Board:

e  Publication of final and interim results of the Company
e Dividend distribution or other distributions

e Major issues of treasury policy, accounting policy and
remuneration policy

e Changes to group corporate structure or Board composition
requiring notification by announcements

e Publication of the announcement for notifiable transactions
and non-exempted connected transaction/continuing

connected transactions

e Non-exempted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions

e Notifiable transactions requiring Shareholders’ approval

e (Capital restructuring and issue of new securities of the
Company

o Financial assistance to Directors

Ulferts International Limited B{LBIFRE R A 7
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

SREARE

Induction, Support and Professional Development of
Directors

All Directors have been given relevant guideline materials
regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a Director, the
relevant laws and regulations applicable to the Directors, duty
of disclosure of interest and business of the Group and such
induction materials will also be provided to newly appointed
Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. There is a procedure agreed
by the Board to enable Directors, upon reasonable request,
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses in order to assist
them to perform their duties to the Company.

The Directors confirmed that they had complied with the Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. During the
Relevant Period, each Director had participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills and has provided a record of training
to the Company.

EECRE ZEREXRR

FFAEFHCRREHEBETESTZRALR
BEE ERREZZHEEN LB - #a
RRCEETRAKEXRG ZHEBESIER
MRHFEEFEZREIR TEXREHARAE
RURERTEFTANERN - 2BEFNE
REMRAREMEREERRCERER
RFTER - e ARG G - R 008 % F H
RUHGKEARRZER EFECETR
FrEESAEEERATRAEERRS
KBIBEXBRABHRE SRR B RITHE
B BAAANRBEE-

EERR NFCETLEEARTANAMR
ERBI 2 TRIEXEA6.50% - REREIR
REFHC2ERBEERR BBLEHR
BATEEzB#E /TS BEM
NERNRERKS MBI LB RA
RABEHEI RS

Topics of training covered

Name of Directors

Mr. Wong Chi Fai EEELE
Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky RsR I HE
Ms. Mok Fung Lin, lvy EREZ+
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SEEUR L
Ms. Chan Yee Man PR =2+
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai 2L
Mr. Ng Hoi Yue mgFEE

Relationship between the Board Members

None of the members of the Board has any relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relations) among each other.

Directors’ insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of any legal action against the Directors.

K5 PR AR R

corporate governance {EXEa/finance #1715/
industry specific 77248 /regulatory BEE

EEeHEMZHE

EEe B ABETARR(BEME ¥
B RBREMEKR HEBEK)

EsvRR
ARBEHRERA LG E Y 2 ERMERFR
EHEE 2 RRZHE -
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TRERRE

Directors’ Attendance

The attendance of Directors at the meetings during the Relevant
Period:

Name of Directors

BESHR

Executive Directors #77EE
Wong Chi Fai &5

Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R7E 34
Mok Fung Lin, lvy 2B

Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SB &

Independent Non-executive Directors BV S TEE
Chan Yee Man R& =

Chiu Kin Fai fR{#ME

Ng Hoi Yue /& F

Total number of meetings held: SHZETHAH :

*  Ms. Mok Fung Lin, Ivy was invited to sit-in the Audit
Committee Meeting as non-member.

Upon reviewing (a) the confirmation of the time commitment
given by each Director; (b) the directorships and major
commitments of each Director; and (c) the attendance rate
of each Director on the meeting(s), the Board is satisfied that
all Directors have spent sufficient time in performing their
responsibilities during the Relevant Period.

Board Meetings and Proceedings

Regular Board meetings will be held at approximately quarterly
intervals. The Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary and key officers of the company
secretarial team for ensuring that the Board procedures as well
as all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

With the assistance of the Company Secretary, the meeting
agenda is set by the Chairman of the Board in consultation
with other Board members. Board meeting notice was
sent to the Directors at least 14 days prior to each regular
Board meeting. Relevant meeting materials together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are generally
sent to all Directors and relevant committee members at least
3 days before each meeting to enable them to make informed
decisions.
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HEEE ERETRE

Audit

Board Committee
2Eg EREES

11 N/A 8 A

11 N/A 36 A
1/1 1/1*

11 N/A 8 A

1/1 1/1
1/1 1/1
1/1 1/1

1 1
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Minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are drafted by the secretary of the meetings and recorded in
sufficient details the matters considered and decisions reached,
with draft and final versions being circulated to the Directors
for their comment and records respectively. Originals of such
minutes, being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for
inspection at any reasonable time with reasonable notice by any
Director.

If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be considered
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material,
the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather
than a written resolution. That Director will abstain from voting
on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or any of his/
her associates has a material interest and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting. INEDs
who, and whose close associates, have no material interest in
the transaction are present at that Board meeting.

Board Committees

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have been
delegated by the Board to the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee, Nomination Committee, Corporate Governance
Committee and Executive Committee.

The majority of the members of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are INEDs.
Clear written terms of reference of all the Board Committees are
given to the respective members of these Committees. Details
of the Board Committees are set out below:

1. Audit Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely Ms.
Chan Yee Man (Chairperson of the Committee), Mr. Chiu
Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue.

The specific written terms of reference of the Audit
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Audit Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the external auditor; (b) reviewing and monitoring the
external auditor's independence and objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process; (c) approving the
remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor;
and (d) reviewing financial information and overseeing the
financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control procedures. The Audit Committee held one meeting
during the Relevant Period.
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Remuneration Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Ng Hoi Yue (Chairman of the Committee) and
Ms. Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs, and Mr. Wong Chi
Fai, an Executive Director .

The specific written terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Remuneration Committee
is primarily responsible for making recommendation to the
Board on (a) the Company’s policy and structure of the
remuneration of Directors and senior management; (b) the
remuneration of INEDs; and (c) the specific remuneration
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior
management. Details of the remuneration of each of the
Directors for the Year are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements. No Remuneration Committee meeting was held
during the Relevant Period as the Company was newly
listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 January 2018.

Nomination Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chiu Kin Fai (Chairman of the Committee) and
Ms. Chan Yee Man, both being INEDs and Ms. Fan Man
Seung, Vanessa, an Executive Director.

The specific written terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee is available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The Nomination Committee
is primarily responsible for (a) reviewing the structure,
size and diversity of the Board; (b) reviewing the Board
Diversity Policy; (c) determining the policy for the
nomination of Directors and identifying potential candidates
for directorship; (d) making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment, re-election
or re-designation of Directors and succession planning
for Directors; (e) assessing the independence of INEDs;
and (f) reviewing the time commitment of each Director.
No Nomination Committee meeting was held during the
Relevant Period as the Company was newly listed on the
Stock Exchange on 29 January 2018.
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As adopted by the Board, the Board Diversity Policy aims
to achieve diversity on the Board in the broadest sense in
order to have a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives to the business nature of the Company.
Selection of candidates on the Board is based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional qualification
and experience, skill, knowledge and length of service.
The Nomination Committee will also assess the merits and
contribution of any Director proposed for re-election or any
candidate nominated to be appointed as Director against
the objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board that would complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

Corporate Governance Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Corporate Governance Committee consists of
five members, namely Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
(Chairperson of the Committee), an Executive Director,
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, both being INEDs,
a representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee is available on the Company’s
website. The Corporate Governance Committee is
primarily responsible for (a) reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance of the Company and
making recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements of
the Company; (c) developing, reviewing and monitoring
the code of conduct applicable to Directors and relevant
employees of the Group on dealings with the Company’s
securities; (d) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; and (e) reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this report.
No Corporate Governance Committee meeting was held
during the Relevant Period as the Company was newly
listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 January 2018.
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5. Executive Committee (set up on 8 January 2018)

The Executive Committee consists of all the Executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Ng Koon Keung, Ricky, Ms. Mok Fung Lin,
lvy and Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa. The primary duties
of the Executive Committee are (a) formulating business
policies and making decision on matters relating to the
management and operations of the Group; and (b) having
all power and authorities of the Board except those matters
specifically reserved for the full Board as set out in the
“Formal Schedule on matters reserved for and delegated by
the Board” adopted by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by
the Board, reports to the Chairman on governance matters and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. The Company
Secretary confirmed that she has complied with all the required
qualifications, experience and training requirements under the
Listing Rules.

SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Ulferts Securities Code on terms no
less exacting than the required standards set out in the Model
Code for securities Transactions of Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. Having
made specific enquiry to all Directors, all of them confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings in
the Model Code and Ulferts Securities Code during the Relevant
Period.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and the
management has provided such explanation and information
to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other Board decisions. The Directors believe
that they have selected suitable accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates that
are prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.
The auditor of the Company has made a statement about their
reporting responsibilities in the Independent Auditor’s Report.

The management has provided all members of the Board with
monthly updates on internal financial statements so as to give
the Directors a balanced and understandable assessment of the
Group’s performance, position and prospects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Internal control is fundamental to the successful operation and
day-to-day running of a business and it assists a company in
achieving its business objectives. Internal control policies and
procedures within the Group are with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a basic
framework of risk management and internal control systems.

A review has been conducted on (i) the internal control
measures and procedures covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls; and (ii)
risk management functions in its principal subsidiaries for the
Year as follows:—

A. Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledged that it is its responsibility to
ensure that the Company establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal
control systems (“Control Systems”). The Control Systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The key objectives of the Control Systems include:
e Safeguarding assets

e Ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports

e Promoting adherence to policies,
regulations and laws

procedures,

e  Promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations
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B. Governance Control

The control structure of the Control Systems is set out as
follows:

The Board

e responsible for the Control Systems and reviewing their
effectiveness

e oversee the Control Systems on an ongoing basis with
the assistance of Audit Committee

e ensure the maintenance of appropriate and effective
Control Systems

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limit of authority

e determine the nature and extent of significant risk that
the Company is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulate the Group’s risk management
strategies

Audit Committee

e review and discuss the Control Systems with the
management annually to ensure that the management
has performed its duty to have effective Control
Systems. This discussion includes the adequacy of
resources, staff qualification and experience, training
programmes and budget of the company’s accounting
and financial reporting function

e consider major findings on internal control matters
raised by internal or external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board

The management (includes heads of business units,
departments and divisions)

e design, implement and monitor the Control Systems
properly and ensure the Control Systems are executed
effectively

e monitoring risks and take measures to mitigate risks in
their day-to-day operations
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give prompt response to, and follow up the findings on
internal control matters raised by internal or external
auditors

provide confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness
of the Control Systems

Internal Audit Department

carries out the analysis and independent appraisal
of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Control
Systems in respect of all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance aspects and
alerted the management on the audit review findings
or irregularities and advise them on the implementation
of necessary steps and actions to enhance the internal
controls of the Group. The result of internal audit
reviews and agreed action plans are reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board.

C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

The risk management process includes risk
identification, risk evaluation, risk management
measures and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify,
analyse, evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate
risks associated with any activity, function or process
within its scope of responsibility and authority. Risks
are evaluated by the Board and management based
on (i) the severity of the impact of the risks on the
Company’s financial results; (ii) the probability that the
risks will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which
risks could occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will manage
the risk as follows:

e Risk elimination — management may identify and
implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

e Risk mitigation — management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the
likelihood, velocity or severity of the risk to an
acceptable level or contingency plan for possible
loss scenarios.
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e Risk control and monitoring - It involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable
and how to address those that are not, accidents
and other situations involving loss or near-loss will
be investigated and properly documented as part
of the effort to manage risks.

e Risk retention — management may decide that
the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
acceptable level and no action is required. The
risk will continue to be monitored as part of the risk
management program to ensure the level of risk
does not increase to an unacceptable level.

(2) Significant Risks and Strategies

Certain significant risks have been identified through
the process of risk identification and assessment. Such
significant risks of the Group and their respective key
strategies/control measures are set out below:

Significant Risks
e Key Strategies/Control Measures

(a) Rely on Hong Kong market
e Explore online option which will have no
territorial limitation

(b) Unknown online competitors
e Further develop and leverage on online
and offline market

D. Internal Controls
The Board acknowledged that the management had
progressively implementing an adequate internal control
system to ensure the effective functioning of the Group’s
operational, financial and compliance areas as follows:

(1) Operational
i. Information flow: The transparent information flow
alerts us promptly of any deviations. Benchmarking
with historical database and comparisons with the
same also acts as a detecting device for spotting
unusual activities.
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Vi.

Approach taken: The management conducted
interviews with relevant staff members, reviewing
relevant documentation of the risk management
and internal control systems and evaluating
findings of any deficiencies in the design of
the Group’s risk management and internal
control system, providing recommendations for
improvement and assessing the effectiveness of
implementation of such recommendations, where
appropriate. The scope and findings of review on
the risk management and internal control will be
reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
annually.

Procedure manuals and operational guidelines:
They are in place to safeguard the assets
against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring
maintenance of proper accounting records in
compliance with the applicable laws, rules and
regulations for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use and/or external
publication.

Management information system and
technology: Such use to control over the business
activities allows close tracking of various inputs
and outputs of the Company’s business such as
raw materials, human resources, products and
customer relationship. It also tracks audit trails in
the authorization system, under which permissions
and responsibility of authorization are clearly
identified and adequate records can be maintained
in the system.

Reports and variance analysis: Such reports
and analysis of each segment in the upstream,
midstream and downstream are conducted on
regular basis such that the performance of each
point of sales and each product category can be
easily accessible.

Safeguarding of assets: A number of general
insurance policies maintained include general
accident insurance on the assets in our office,
warehouse, retail stores against robbery, burglary,
fire and flooding. Insurance for unexpected
operation risks and marine insurance for cargo
shipment from suppliers or manufacturers which
are not on CIF terms are also maintained.

Vi.
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vii. Quality control: starting from procurement stage vii. mEEE R ERMEER
in selection of furniture suppliers and product MEGRBRENFEERBRRS
offering
> For “Ulfenbo’ products and products for > BIBTtEIERRIRE

BERME HEBRE

42

special projects, suppliers and manufacturers
are required to produce evidence of
compliance such as test reports, raw material
suppliers’ certificates and documents on
electrical parts.

ERARBEAAZHA
MAABS BEMHESE
EHHEFTMH XM -

> Before placing purchase orders with any new () 1 {a] 37 6% 4RL 11 PE 7 T 3
furniture suppliers, the procurement team will BTS2 HEEK
assess their workmanship and product quality edTHEBEHER 2T
as well as their reputation in the industry. 2 ERMTERERTRA

WEE .

> For products of new design which are usually HRBET éx/\ B B R 1
first released in the international furniture E%ﬁ‘\)?& E’]%ﬁnx.ﬁr?
exhibitions and fairs, the procurement team CHEEEeRAES
will inspect the products for workmanship I%&Tz%ﬁk%%ﬁ%o
and safety or quality issue. Regular meetings KRR THEGETEE
are held between the procurement team and ERERTEH REDN
the inspection and repair team to exchange, FHEEMERKRER
discuss and resolve any quality issue with the A R AR E - B I
products. We also engage independent third TRHERABYE=ZAHR
parties from time to time to inspect products AR BB A A TR o
manufactured in the PRC.

> For custom-made furniture, the project team STREERMAATE LTIEEK
conducts pre-shipment inspection at the ENH EEE T MAET
factory of our outsourced manufacturers FIERIROR - B R
by checking of random samples of the BREXmz TEREM
finished products on workmanship and other B (WR~T -EZE8Kk8
specifications such as size, labelling and ) UZEBERKRBILK
packaging to verify that the finished lots ENERREEBIRE -
conform to such specifications before delivery.

> When the cargo of our products are shipped EEREXEEAEE Y
to Hong Kong, the logistics team will check REBRERNERNESR

AN

the quantity, shipping mark and package
condition of the products upon their delivery
to our warehouse. The whole process of
devanning the cargo will be recorded by
video. If the Company discovers there is any
damage, our logistics team will, sometimes
under the supervision of surveyors, unpack the
relevant product and examine it for defect. For
products of new model or from new supplier,
our sales team will perform checking when the
goods arrive at the store for display.
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> |f any complaint is received in respect of any
product which is attributable to manufacturing
defect, the procurement team in conjunction
with the inspection and repair team would
make a decision as to whether or not to
inspect other pieces of the same product
model from the same shipment to see if similar
manufacturing defect occurs in the same
batch of shipment.

> Our management will be informed if defects
are found and our sales director will decide
whether to proceed with insurance claim
and/or liaise with the relevant supplier for
negotiation of appropriate remedy.

(2) Financial

Proper controls are in place for the recording of
complete, accurate and timely accounting and
management information;

Regular reports on revenue, marker receivables’
ageing and debtors’ ageing and internal financial
reports are prepared to the management which
give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the Group’s financial performance;

Monthly updates on internal financial statements
are provided to all Directors which give a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Group’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient
detail; and

Annual audit by external auditor is carried out to
ensure that the consolidated financial statement
are prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, the Group’s
accounting policies and the applicable laws and
regulations.
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(3) Compliance
The following policies and procedures are in place to
safeguard the compliance control:

Systems and Procedures on Disclosure of Inside
Information to ensure, with the assistance of an
internal work team (if required), that any material
information which comes to the knowledge of any
one or more officers should be promptly identified,
assessed and escalated, where appropriate, for
the attention of the Board;

Policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements which shall be
reviewed and monitored regularly by the Corporate
Governance Committee as delegated by the Board;

CCT Compliance Committee is established to
monitor, control and regularly review continuing
connected transactions of the Company and
ensure proper compliance with all relevant laws
and regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements; and

Whistle-blowing policy for the employees of the
Group to raise concerns, in confidence, about
possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. Such arrangement
will be reviewed by the Audit Committee which
ensures that proper arrangement is in place for fair
and independent investigation of the matters.

Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had received a confirmation
from the management on the effectiveness of the Control
Systems of the Group. Based on such confirmation and
discussion with the management, the Audit Committee and
the Board had reviewed the Control Systems and were not
aware of any significant issues that would have an adverse
impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s
operational, financial and compliance areas of the Control
Systems.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Company had established a shareholders’ communication
policy and the Board reviews it on a regular basis to ensure
its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the
Shareholders mainly in the following ways: (i) the holding of
AGM and extraordinary general meetings, if any, which may be
convened for specific purposes which provide opportunities for
the Shareholders to communicate directly to the Board; (ii) the
publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports
and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules and press
releases providing updated information of the Group; (iii) the
availability of latest information of the Group in the Company’s
website at http://www.ulfertsintl.com; (iv) the holding of press
conference(s) from time to time; and (v) meeting with investors
and analysts on a regular basis and participate investor road
show and sector conference.

There is regular dialogue with institutional Shareholders and
general presentations are made when financial results are
announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit
the Company’s website to raise enquiries through our Investor
Relations Department whose contact details are available on
the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and Key
Dates” of this annual report.

Separate resolutions will be proposed at the general meetings
for substantial separate issues, including re-election of retiring
Directors. The Company’s notice to the Shareholders for the
AGM will be sent to Shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting and notices of all other general
meetings will be sent to the Shareholders at least 10 clear
business days before the meetings.

The forthcoming AGM will be held on 16 August 2018 which will
be conducted by way of poll. The Chairman of the AGM and the
chairman/members of the Board Committees will be available
at the AGM to answer questions from the Shareholders. With
the assistance of the Company Secretary, the Chairman of the
meeting will explain the procedures for conducting a poll during
the meeting.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders
as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code.

Convening a General Meeting/Right to call General Meeting

Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting
rights of all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general
meetings may send a request to the Company pursuant to
Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (“CO”). The request must state the general
nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and may
include the text of resolution that may properly be moved and
is intended to be moved at the meeting. Requests may consist
of several documents in like form. A request may be sent to the
Company for the attention of the Company Secretary in hard
copy form or in electronic form and must be authenticated by
the relevant Shareholder(s). Such request will be verified with
the Company’s share registrar and the Company Secretary will
request the Board to convene a general meeting within 21 days
upon its confirmation that the request is in order. Such meeting
must be held on a date not more than 28 days after the date of
the notice convening the meeting and such notice must include
notice of the resolution.

Section 568 of the CO provides that if the Directors do not
within 21 days as stated above to call a general meeting, the
Shareholders representing more than one half of the total voting
rights of all of them, may themselves call a general meeting,
but the meeting so convened must be called for a date not
more than 3 months after the Directors become subject to the
requirement to call a meeting. The meeting must be called in
the same matter, as nearly as possible, as that in which that
meeting is required to be called by the Directors. The business
that may be dealt with at the meeting includes a resolution to
be dealt with at the meeting. All reasonable expenses incurred
by the Shareholders of this purpose must be reimbursed by the
Company.
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Putting forward Proposals at General Meetings/Right to
Circulate Resolution at AGM

Section 615 of the CO provides that (i) shareholder(s)
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders; or (ii) at least 50 Shareholders having a right to
vote on the resolution at the AGM may request the Company
to circulate a notice of a resolution may properly moved
or is intended to be moved at that meeting. Such request
must identify the resolution to be moved at the AGM, must
be authenticated by the relevant Shareholder(s) and sent to
the registered office of the Company for the attention of the
Company Secretary in hard copy form or in electronic form not
later than 6 weeks before the relevant AGM or if later, the time
when the notice of AGM is despatched.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Enquires from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’ enquiries can be
directed to the Investor Relations Department of the Company
whose contact details are shown on “Corporate Information and
Key Dates” section of this Annual Report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Relevant Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE IN RESPECT OF
NON-COMPETITION DEED

Pursuant to a deed of non-competition undertaking dated 15
January 2018 (“Deed”) provided by Ulferts International Group
Holdings Limited, Albert Yeung Holdings Limited and Dr. Albert
Yeung (collectively the “Covenantors”) in favour of the Company,
the Covenantors had given undertakings to the Company not to
carry on, or be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire
or hold any rights or interest, whether directly or indirectly, in
any of the Restricted Business of the Group (as defined in the
Deed).

RERASELREERE RBEREFASL
BERRERZEF
NEEBIEGISIERTE - (VM2 EERZEN
REHEAD25% 2 R : Sh(i)xDPE0RH A ##
FRBRRBERE LR AZERRZEZRER
TRAR ﬁ%ﬁ@%ﬂE7A L%*ﬂ@
BIHIZERE LB RAERNBE ZE
Tﬁhﬁﬁ m&%m&xgiﬁﬁzm%
EAKHERERBLTNERBERRER
ikAIWWW@ﬁ%hiﬁix@%%ﬁ
B AT6E 2 Hi AT EN A E FIRX E AR AR
MRHEETFARWE -

REMASRES

BRREEMAZEEEZEFIRARAN
UVHER o

BRREH

BRAMARBZBRNBFPECRESEWSE
BRARAREAREZFRBER - BERZ
EEHAmARAREEBEBFIEL

HEBEEMCIBERAFRIARAEMRER
A8 —# -
AEERXH

AR - AL A2 A B AT
MEXED -

HUTRBRANZERER
BEBARERZERARAR  BIRE

¥EIERBERA T&*i%%i(%ﬁﬁ“AD
AARRQR ARz ARTEL B H A2018F1 A

waZTﬁ%% %%U%%D N
RARNBEETSEE TR AERTR G 2
B(EERRY) BRETEAEZIIS K

R E R E TR EMEN S (T
B EE) -

WA

Ulferts International Limited B{tEIFRE R A 7

Annual Report 2017/2018 &3

47



48

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBHE

1. Covenantors had confirmed that they had fully complied
with the undertakings in the Deed and that the Company
had not received nor was aware of any New Business
Opportunities (as defined in the Deed) that required the
Covenantors to offer to the Company by the Deed; and

2. the INEDs had made an annual review on the compliance
of the terms of the Deed by the Covenantors and the
enforcement of the non-competition undertakings in the
Deed and formed the view that the Covenantors had fully
complied with the undertakings in the Deed.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor the
independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements
in accordance with applicable standard. Members of the Audit
Committee was of the view that the Company’s auditor, Messrs.
Ernst & Young (“EY”) is independent and had recommended
the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s auditor at the 2018
AGM. During the Year, EY has rendered audit services and
certain non-audit services to the Group and the remuneration
paid/payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

Service rendered

FriZ AR %5

Audit services 1% Z R
Non-audit services 3E#ZE R 7%
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B BEN R &

To the members of Ulferts International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ulferts
International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 115, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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By HENRE

Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
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basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated

financial statements.

Key audit matters
FAEETEE
Write-down of inventories to net realisable value

M7 & E o B FE

The Group had inventories with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$44,226,000 at 31 March 2018. The
Group periodically reviews the net realisable value of
inventories to determine whether any write-down of
inventories to net reliable value is required. In estimating
the net realisable value of inventories, the Group
considers, inter alia, the nature, ageing and condition
of inventories, pricing policy and strategies and other
relevant factors.
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The determination of net realisable value requires
management to make significant assumptions and
estimates that affect the reported amount of inventories
and related disclosures.

BETU2RFERREEEFHERNBRER RGN HAR
EFECHARSBRMEMEBEE -

We focus on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required in estimating net
realisable value of inventories.

ERAREHRceERA ARAFEZAERFERR
EBRERNGHE kG MBALIENIRESEE

The related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statement.

HEREERENGA M BEHRERMEIR14 -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EMWEFONEEFERENSEE

We evaluated management’'s assessment of whether
the Group’s inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Our procedures included,
inter alia, evaluating the methodologies, inputs and
assumptions used by the Group in determining the net
realisable values of inventories and the write-down of
inventories required, with reference to, inter alia, the
nature, ageing and condition of inventories, pricing
policy and strategies, historical and subsequent sales
information, and current market condition.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

e FEvaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

BRBMHETREMBERRABNEE(E)

e HEZRAKBLLSMEARMNBEN
EH W - REMERNETBE
ERAFEEFAIBRABBHEAN
REEM - EmAEEHY S&RENF
ERERNELEBRAE - IREMA
REEEATEEN AL REXH
MBREhREEAEIEFSUBRE
TRHBARE REBHENEETR
AIRPIEEERRFEREER - HAIW
Ewma AR RE I B ABSHE
AHRE AT RRFHKBRARSE
¥ EEETRSELE -

s HESAUBHREBRNENERIR
TR EBBNAT UREAMBHRE
RERARRRZH N FEE -

e 3 BERERERIEHIINMBE
BERTE BEENETRE UEH
REMBRREXREAL -KMAR &
SEFEFANSTR EBEMRIT - LMK
BERRAAERRAEE-

FREMEEIN RMAREZEZERBET A
SMETHE  FHERHE  BAFMERS
BREBMER T L AR ERNE
KRR

BPERAERZBERIEHN  HAPARME
NEAMBUMNEEEXRERER &R
M BRAAEEBIERRAETERNE
VHENMAEREREMER LUREERN
BT - HER P EEE o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BE RS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue

Central, Hong Kong

27 June 2018

Ulferts International Limited Bi{L BB AR A 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FERERAMEEHKGER

Year ended 31 March 2018 &, £201843 331 H & [EF

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T T8t
REVENUE WA 5 258,553 224,331
Cost of sales $HE KA (94,631) (79,027)
Gross profit EF 163,922 145,304
Other income and gains Hub g A RS 5 1,435 4,626
Selling and distribution expenses $5&E R DX (116,942) (95,955)
General and administrative —RITHAX
expenses (35,586) (18,402)
Finance cost B 765 B AR 6 (283) (1)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX I B2 Bl v ) 7 12,546 35,572
Income tax expense Fris®if X 10 (4,069) (5,427)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AND FRBEFMEANEZEN BT
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 8,477 30,145
Attributable to: P& -
Owners of the parent (SS/NEIE TSN 8,477 30,145
EARNINGS PER SHARE SRR BEREREEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO JE {5 = f & A
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12

Basic and diluted (expressed in EARREE (G
HK cents per share) Bl A EAL) 1.34 5.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e IR R R

31 March 2018 720183 A31H

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FE T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WELEE 13 17,379 12,647
Prepayments and deposits ENRERZ S 16 11,361 6,762
Deferred tax assets EEFRIEEE 21 1,681 1,214
Total non-current assets IEREEELE 30,421 20,623
CURRENT ASSETS MBEE
Inventories T8 14 44,226 32,944
Trade receivables =) A &S] 15 6,263 4,473
Prepayments, deposits FENFIE - e REMEY
and other receivables WIE 16 11,577 13,520
Tax recoverable AR [O I8 570 -
Cash and cash equivalents HWENRESEEY 83,385 39,818
Total current assets MEEELE 146,021 90,755
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBBE
Trade and bills payables B EMNFERENER 17 7,076 5,246
Other payables and accruals HibEN B RESTE R 18 28,619 25,636
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it EBIRITER 19 19,798 -
Provisions B 20 1,241 2,445
Tax payable FERHIE = 1,622
Total current liabilities MEBERRE 56,734 34,949
NET CURRENT ASSETS MBEEFE 89,287 55,806
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERRSEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 119,708 76,429
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERHAaE
Provisions P 20 4,060 1,530
Net assets BEFE 115,648 74,899
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to BRABEEAEGER
owners of the parent
Share capital % < 22 110,337 6,065
Retained profits REHEA 5,311 68,834
Total equity MR IBEE 115,648 74,899
Wong Chi Fai Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
Director Director
EZE EZE

Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSBR

Year ended 31 March 2018 &, £201843 331 H & [EF

Share Retained Total
capital profits equity
YN R & & F REmBE
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T T
At 1 April 2016 R2016F4A1H 6,065 38,689 44,754
Profit and total FARRMNEER
comprehensive WS 4858
income for the year - 30,145 30,145
At 31 March 2017 and R2017F3H31H &
at 1 April 2017 2017F4A1H 6,065 68,834 74,899
Profit and total FREMNMEE2E
comprehensive W48 %8
income for the year - 8,477 8,477
Issue of shares BTN 22 112,000 - 112,000
Share issue expenses BRHBEITHAX 22 (7,728) - (7,728)
Interim 2018 dividend 2018 HiflR B 11 - (72,000) (72,000)
At 31 March 2018 20183 A31H 110,337 5,311 115,648
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERTRER

Year ended 31 March 2018 EZE2018%F3A31HILFE

AONE:]

HK$'000
THET

2017
HK$’000
THET

CASH FLOWS FROM RETHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I B2 Bi v ) 12,546 35,5672
Adjustments for: MIATSIBATIEAZE :
Finance cost BT AR 6 283 1
Interest income B UA 5 (240) -
Depreciation e 7 8,501 9,456
Loss/(gain) on disposal/ HE s E -
write-off of items of property, BB M EEER
plant and equipment ZEB () 7 419 (75)
Net write-down/(reversal of EWORTFEE, (METFEEZ
write-down) of inventories to BO) E=r &R FE
net realisable value 7 (75) 123
Provision for reinstatement BB R AN B — R ) B B AR
costs - reversal of unutilised O E T B AR
provisions/decrease in
estimated provisions 5 - (8,574)
21,434 41,503
Increase in inventories FEEM (11,207) (2,072)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e Uk 2k TE 1 0 (1,790) (908)
Increase in prepayments, FENRIE - 2 REM
deposits and other receivables JE U BRI 18 0 (2,656) (6,283)
Increase in trade and bills B 5 IR R ER
payables =/ S Bl 1,830 1,676
Increase/(decrease) in other ﬁﬁﬂﬂ’iﬁ RIE N EET
payables and accruals BRAEMN CRL) 2,983 (102)
Decrease in provisions BAER (2,000) (47)
Cash generated from operations IRESEBNFTSIR & 8,594 33,767
Interest received BlkF B 240 -
Hong Kong profits tax paid BREE ﬂ ST (6,728) (4,866)
Net cash flows from operating RETHFMEBEESREFHE
activities 2,106 28,901
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BREZEBHEEARE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BMEMREEB
plant and equipment (10,450) (2,635)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEW% - BE MR EE B
property, plant and equipment Fri8 k18 124 118
Net cash flows used in investing REZEHFFARLSRETHE
activities (10,326) (2,517)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEREMNER

Year ended 31 March 2018 & ZE2018%F3A31HILFE

2018 2017
HK$’000
TET

HK$'000
THET

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING @EZBHEREARE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BT TS R 22 112,000 -
Share issue expenses R EEITHREZ 22 (7,728) -
Net increase in trust receipt loans {SEWIBE & F I8 hNiH5E 13,798 -
New bank borrowings MERITER 6,000 -
Dividend paid BfRRE (72,000) -
Interest paid BFE (283) (1)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mMETEMRE (A

financing activities RERETFE 51,787 (1)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERRSEEYHEMFR

CASH EQUIVALENTS 43,567 26,383
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRENIREFEYD

beginning of year 39,818 13,435
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS SXREEREESZEEY

AT END OF YEAR 83,385 39,818
ANALYSIS OF BALANCE REeERBSEENEHRDIN

OF CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Re RIBITES 83,385 39,818
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
Ulferts International Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. The
registered office of the Company is located at Units 1905-
07, 19th Floor, Emperor Group Centre, 288 Hennessy Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 29 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. During
the year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the
following principal activities:

e retail of imported furniture

e wholesale of imported furniture

e project sales and consultancy services arrangements
(“special projects”)

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company
are Ulferts International Group Holdings Limited and Albert
Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”), respectively,
both are incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and
AY Holdings is legally wholly-owned by STC International
Limited acting as the trustee of The Albert Yeung
Discretionary Trust, a discretionary trust set up by Dr.
Yeung Sau Shing, Albert, a deemed substantial shareholder
of the Company (the “Deemed Substantial Shareholder”).

Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
Annual Report 2017/2018 F 5§
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
incorporation
and business
7 B 32

RS i B

Issued
ordinary
share capital
BT
EBRE

AEAREEEN(F)

FRHMEARZEN
ARBMBAR ZFBWT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
PN
LR
Direct Indirect

BE# %

Principal activities

TEXK

Ulferts International
Investment Limited
(“Ulferts Investment”)

BB EBR AR
(TBLRE D)

True Fair Inc.

Ulferts of Sweden
(Macau) Limited
IHEEE CRF) BRAA

Ulferts of Sweden
(Far East) Limited
EBE GRR) BRAR

Eurodecor Furniture
(Holdings) Limited
HREM(EE) BRAAE

Eurodecor Furniture Limited

HEHEMERRF

Linkpac Development
Limited
A ERFR AT

British Virgin Islands
EBRERHE

British Virgin Islands
RBRAEE

Macau

P

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
BB

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
BB

US$1
E

US$50,000
50,000% 7T

MOP25,000
25,000/2F97T

HK$350,000
350,000/ 7T

HK$8,800,000
8,800,000/ 7T

HK$500,000
500,000/ 7T

HK$2
2% TT

100 - Investment holding

REER

- 100 Investment holding

REER
- 100 Liaising with project
customers in Macau
BERPIERER
- 100 Retail and wholesale of
imported furniture, and
special projects
ENRMTERSLELR
TiREH
- 100 Provision of group
tenancy agent services
RESEHEREA
P 7
- 100 Retail of imported
furniture and
investment holding
ENREMTER
REZER
- 100 Provision of group
tenancy agent services
RESEHEREA
MR 75

Ulferts International Limited @{tEIFR B R A &)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

I. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION |. AFAREESEE (&)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) EBAHBATIZER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: RARIMB AR ZFFBET : (&)
(continued)
Place of Issued Percentage of
incorporation ordinary  equity attributable
and business share capital to the Company  Principal activities
&l B 32 E®1T KA T
R A 4t B EERA EiEEzEsE ETEER
Direct Indirect
E# %
Link Profit Investment Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of group
Limited Ei& 2B T tenancy agent services
HRRERRAT RESEHEEREA
P 7%
Marvel Win Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
EBERAF B 18T tenancy agent services
RESEHEEREA
MR %
Mighty Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100 Provision of group
REFRAF 5 1,000,000 7T tenancy agent services
RESEHEREA
PR 7%
Wealthy House Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
BEEARLA &HE 157 tenancy agent services
RESEHEREBA
MRS
Rich Ascent Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
MEEE LA BE 1T tenancy agent services
RESEHENREA
P 7%
Glory Wish Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of group
BEHERAF B 28T tenancy agent services
RESEHEEREA
MR %
Wider Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of group
HHEBERAR o 1T tenancy agent services
RESEHEREBA
MRS
62 Ulferts International Limited Bt B AR A &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.l RREXE

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2018. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company.
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the
Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

WM BHRRCBREZEGHAMAE (F
BEHEAg]) MBEMZEET B RS
HA([BEMBHREER]) (BEAAE
A BREER BEEFENTER
SRPEA]) R2E) FEARETRA
ARBERXAED T ARE - MBERE
TH IR RS2 kA5 B 32 = 1k B 75 ¥R R 19 A
AL (BT 25 - MESARAEN
2HEEHAEEREOTT -

AptEE

BAVERRBEARARENB AR
(EIANEE]) RE E2018F3H31H
LFEEZHBRER -HBRBALXRAR
BEERRAEZEEHz —EAER (2EEE T
FRE) WAKEBRBLHEBRREHER
MEAXEENGHIEE S 2 AT Z DR -
BEENTEERRETENTZEEH
B3R AIANSEEHEEZE R 25 HHE (A
BRBTAEEESHEESAHBEEE
ZRER) o

WARNRERKMEEE ZRRE TR
SRIBCEMNERBYE - AFGEAX
NEHERETRLAERNE  KN&E
SETEMEHRBEERER 8%

(a) BZEFERETEMRERBEALZ
ERESE

(b) HHMANTRTEEZ R R
(c) REBRZHLEERER -

BB A) 2 B IS R R Ty iR K 2 ) 4R [A)
EHME R EHBRRH - WBE QA
ZEBHEASERSEREHELHET
e THEXNASHEE BEET
BHIESSLE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 IRBEE(E)

64

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (a) the fair value of the
consideration received, (b) the fair value of any investment
retained and (c) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

2.2

BHEE(E)

BamkEME2m a2 SAKE D B
SE B RREAANERBRBR RS
FEAL - BOE B Uth 5 BRI B BR M st 4
HRABB -BUAKREKE QAR ZHR
HZEBNIEE  BE  #xE - WA
Eﬂi&ﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂ&ﬁéﬂ%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁi

AEzZ-HAAZHELRLE AEES
ENFEERSENRRERR - KK
EEGRZMBARMEREREFA
RRERRS

i 75 52 1B 5K 25 — P P B8 A ) 2 48 I 4
AR RR()ZMB AR ZEE (B
BE) MBE - ()ERHERERER
REE NN ERACR RIEENE
B MR (Q)MKRRE 2 A FE - (b)FT
REBEAIRE 2 AFER(c)BEmPER
FitEE 2 B EE TR EMmE
HA s AR AR B EEE D EE
DEABEIREEN (WEA) - B
MAEBECERHERBEERAER
ZEETLAER -

B RREBREKE

AEEE R AFEE I BRKE R
TRETBBHBREEL -

Amendments to Disclosure Initiative BEGHER wEEE
HKAS 7 BT ZASE] AR

Amendments to Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for HEGFHER HAREDE B RR
HKAS 12 Unrealised Losses FA125 BRI A BT IR E E

Amendments Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: STABEBEYBRE BEREMERLZ
to HKFRS 12 Clarification of the Scope of HKFRS 12 ERI2014F = B
included in Annual 2016 F FH A~ BBEHEERE
Improvements to FERHEND B 12952 &
HKFRSs 2014-2016 B 2R
Cycle E125% ZAEET AR

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
Disclosure has been made in note 24(b) to the financial
statements upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS
7, which require an entity to provide disclosures that
enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes
in liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash changes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 BERER T BB

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15

Amendments to
HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKAS 19
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions’
Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Revenue from Contracts with
Customers’

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers’

Leases?
Insurance Contracts?®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement?

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments?

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28!

2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of HKFRSs?

2015-2017 Cycle

1]
£
A

5 ¥

Pl

2
A

7

AEEYRRZF
& R

=
M mEER -

BEYBREER
F 2B
BEYBREER
FAGZEFTA

B BEREER
F95

B BEREER
FORZIEFTA

B BEREER
F10R R BB G
A2 B 285%
(20114 ) Z{EFT R

B BEmEER
F155

B BEREER
F155 BRI A

B BEREER
£165%

B BEREER
175

ERE el
F1R 2 BRI A

ERE el
FE285 2 BRI A

ERE el
FA05R 2 BRI A

55 (BB ERE
2BZe9)
—2EE25%

55 (BB ERE
2BZe9)
-2 EE235%

2014 22016F
B FENE

2015F 22017
BEZ FENE

MHmERTEABUAT
BT REIER] BB

PBRIAENRG BE
EZNHRG

RHEEBNB#HEER
FAT R E AT —OF
BREEYHFHEE
BIE 955

M TA

RERENFIER A E

REFEHREB LN A
REPEZHZEE
HE T E

EFPEHZKA

ERBENBHEER
FIEEFENZ
WA

HE?

R & A

FTEIEET - AR AR

REZRFZAEEDRFE
Z R #?

BRREYE

IEXGRENKE

FrRHERE .z THEE M

BERMBREENFIR
REB G EL
VLA TIEN

ZRBBYBREER
ZIERTAR?

Ulferts International Limited @{tEIFR B R A &)
Annual Report 2017/2018 &3

65



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3

2

66

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (Continued)
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about certain of these new and revised
HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group
is described below. Of those standards, HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the Group’s financial year
ending 31 March 2019 and are expected to have certain
impact upon adoption. Whilst management has performed
a high-level assessment of the estimated impacts of these
standards, that assessment is based on the information
currently available to the Group, including expectations
of the application of transitional provision options and
policy choices. The actual impacts upon adoption could
be different to those below, depending on additional
reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Group at the time of applying the standards
and the transitional provisions and policy options finally
adopted.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group plans not to restate
comparative information and plans to recognise any
transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity
at 1 April 2018. During the year, the Group has performed
a high-level assessment of the impact of the adoption of
HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification
and measurement and the impairment requirements and are
summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the classification and
measurement of financial assets depend on two
assessments: the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets. The Group
does not expect that the adoption of HKFRS 9 will
have a significant impact on the classification and
measurement of its financial assets.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23ICEMAERARERZEBHK
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING HWMEER (2)
STANDARDS (Continued)
(b) Impairment (b) &
HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments EBYBEREERFIRBTE @

recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
are not accounted for at fair value through profit or
loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an
expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month
basis or a lifetime basis. The Group plans to apply
the simplified approach and record lifetime expected
losses that are estimated based on the present values
of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life of all of
its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group plans to
apply the general approach and record twelve-month
expected credit losses that are estimated based on the
possible default events on its other receivables within
the next twelve months. The Group currently does not
expect the provision for impairment will be significantly
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increased upon the initial adoption of the standard.
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STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide
a more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application
of the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued
amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the implementation
issues on identifying performance obligations, application
guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are
also intended to help ensure a more consistent application
when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans to
adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to recognise
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to
the opening balance of retained profits at 1 April 2018. In
addition, the Group plans to apply the new requirements
only to contracts that are not completed before 1 April
2018. During the year, the Group has performed a high-
level assessment on the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
15. The Group currently expects that the transitional
adjustment to be made on 1 April 2018 upon initial adoption
of HKFRS 15 will not be material.

The presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are more detailed than those under the current HKAS
18. The presentation requirements represent a significant
change from current practice and may significantly increase
the volume of disclosures required in the Group’s financial
statements. Many of the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are new and the Group has assessed that some of
these disclosure requirements may have an impact on the
Group’s financial statements. In particular, the Group may
have to disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts
with customers into categories that depict how the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
are affected by economic factors.
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STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases -
Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.
The standard sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition
exemptions for lessees - leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right
to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40, or relates
to a class of property, plant and equipment to which
the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense on
the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure
the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events,
such as change in the lease term and change in future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate
used to determine those payments. Lessees will generally
recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease
liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged
from the accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue
to classify all leases using the same classification principle
as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases
and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors
to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a
full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.
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HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16
upon adoption and is considering whether it will choose
to take advantage of the practical expedients available
and which transition approach and reliefs will be adopted.
As disclosed in note 25 to the financial statements, at 31
March 2018, the Group had future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in aggregate of
approximately HK$77,651,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS
16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.
Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine the
amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to
be recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts
relating to leases of low-value assets and short term leases,
other practical expedients and reliefs chosen, and new
leases entered into before the date of adoption.

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREHEEBE (&
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) FEMEERE (£)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not
to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (continued)
(b) (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset
as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Furniture, fixtures and 20% — 33'/s%
equipment

Motor vehicles 20%
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEME(2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessee,
rentals payable under operating leases net of any incentives
received from the lessor are charged to profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and receivables. When financial assets
are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement of loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in profit or loss. The loss arising
from impairment is recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEME(2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREHBERBME(Z)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised
in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued
on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in profit or
loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEME(2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying amounts
is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices
less any estimated costs to be incurred in the process of
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statements of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEREME(2)

78

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in profit or loss.

A provision for reinstatement costs is recognised when
a contractual obligation under the terms of an operating
lease has arisen to reinstate a leased property at the end
of the lease. Reinstatement costs are provided at the value
of the expected costs to settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period using estimated cash flows and an
equivalent asset is recognised and depreciated over the
term of the operating lease. The estimated future costs of
reinstatement are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
least at each financial year end.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEME(2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of the reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEREME(2)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) from the rendering of services, when the relevant
services have been rendered; and

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT QAEREFTHEME(2)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits

Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates an occupational retirement scheme
registered under the Hong Kong Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the scheme. This scheme has been granted
exemption under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. When an employee leaves the scheme
before his/her interest in the Group’s employer contributions
vesting fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the
Group are reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
employer’s contributions.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

Contributions to these schemes are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets of
these schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in independently administered funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of the
reporting period. Non-financial assets with finite useful
lives are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or
a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Provisions for reinstatement costs

The Group makes provisions for reinstatement costs
associated with certain leased properties under operating
leases attributable to the Group based on the estimates
of the expected costs to be incurred to settle the relevant
contractual obligations under the terms of the leases
at the end of the reporting period, which are subject to
uncertainties and might differ from the actual costs to
be incurred. Significant judgements and estimates are
required, including, inter alia, making various assumptions
with reference to past experience and available information
to determine the expected costs to be incurred. Further
details are included in note 20 to the financial statements.
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31 March 2018 201843 H31H

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of receivables

The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a receivable
is impaired. To determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment, the Group considers various
factors including, inter alia, the probability of insolvency or
significant financial difficulties of the debtors and default or
significant delay in payments.

Net realisable value of inventories

The Group performs periodical assessment of the carrying
amounts of inventories with reference to, inter alia, the
nature, ageing and condition of inventories, relevant
historical data, pricing policy and strategies, subsequent
sales information and current market condition. Based on
such assessment, write-down of inventories will be made
when the carrying amounts of inventories decline below
their estimated net realisable values. Due to changes
in market and economic environment and customers’
preference, actual saleability of inventories and actual
selling prices that could be realised might be different from
the original estimation and profit or loss could be affected
by differences in these estimations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group principally focuses on the retail and wholesale
of imported furniture, and special projects. Information
reported to the Group’s chief operating decision maker,
for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the Group’s resources are integrated and
no discrete operating segment information is available.
Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

Substantially all of the Group’s revenues from external
customers during the years ended 31 March 2018
and 2017 were attributed to Hong Kong based on the
location of the customers or the location of certain key
processes/resources from which the Group derived the
revenues.

(b) Non-current assets

All of the Group’s non-current assets as at the end of
the reporting period were located in Hong Kong based
on the location of the assets.

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with a single external
customer for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
amounted to 10% or more of the total revenues of the
Group.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns and trade discounts, and the
value of project services rendered during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as
follows:

4.

ReEsMER
AERIBEBEORATERYER
TRIEE - RABSREERIEMS -
AARBEEGERREER L EH -
BENALE Y RBEELE  HAL
EEZERDEA YWD HEEH
B ARG E L B ESFEE S E
EH -

(a) KENHBEEFZKA
RE Z2018%F &2017F 38318 1
FE -AEBRBIINBERL ZHA
REFPHEMNEXIEASERILE
BUAZETEZERRRE/ER
ZIUEBERBRIBAOKBES °

(b) ¥RBEE
AEERNBERRIFERDEER
BEMRUEZHHUNES

ERXERFZEH

H E2018%F K2017FE3A31R L EE -
MEREE—IIBEFRFH2WAMLAR
EBAWAI0%E A L o

KA~ E AW AR Wz
WAEFREHBREERE TN ZE
ERRBEFME URMEHER RS
ZfEfE -

WA~ B A R W=z 2T

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FHET
Revenue BA

Retail of furniture EMEE 239,298 207,859
Wholesale of furniture R HE 12,212 13,138

Special projects — project sales and TiEBEH-HAEHER
consultancy services arrangements BARTE T HE 7,043 3,334
258,553 224,331
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

The Group generated revenues from certain projects for the
supply of custom-made furniture and other related products
and services (“project sales”) and arrangements involving
the supply of custom-made furniture and related products
and services by external furniture suppliers to certain
fellow subsidiaries (“consultancy services arrangements”).
During the year, the Group’s total revenue from consultancy
services arrangements amounted to approximately
HK$2,227,000 (2017: HK$1,374,000).

The Group entered into several contractual agreements
with certain third parties for the supply of custom-
made furniture and related services, pursuant to which,
the Group directly/indirectly delivered such goods and
services to certain fellow subsidiaries and, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, these are special project
arrangements involving the fellow subsidiaries. During
the year, the Group recognised project sales revenues of
approximately HK$1,346,000 (2017: HK$109,000) under
such arrangements.

5.

KA~ B AR W2 (4F)

REBEHEZEERMREMERER
kR (BB HEE]) LR RINFER
MitEERE TRENB QR HEET R
BREREBERERSE 2 ZH ([FF
BREZHE) 2ETEEPRIKA - F
W AEBERERBZARBLZHE 2 A
5D R #) A2,227,000 7T (20174 ¢
1,374,000 7T) °

AEERETEZTREETFTRE
MR BBERISEI L Z & HTHE - Bt
AEEEE  HMEINZSE MRS
FTETREZKBRR MARREEZR
B REREDNSRBAERNEBEAR 2T
REBLZHE -FR AEEREZEL
PETETRIE B 85 & WA 491,346,000 7T
(20174 : 109,000/ 7T) °

2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Other income and gains Hih g A k2=
Other service income E b AR A UL 707 701
Gain on disposal of items of LEVE  WEREE
property, plant and equipment HH W= = 75
Provision for reinstatement costs — B8 AR AN B — R & AR BB
reversal of unutilised provisions/ o R B ER
decrease in estimated provisions - 3,574
Bank interest income RITHFE WA 240 -
Others EHAh 488 276
1,435 4,626

6. FINANCE COST

Interest on bank borrowings

6. HBARA

AONES]
HK$'000

2017
HK$'000
TER

TET
283 1

RITERZHE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BR¥AER

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after AEBBRBATSF S B (GFA) T

charging/(crediting): KIF
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FERT

Cost of inventories sold and BEHEFERARE

services provided MRS AR 94,706 78,904

Net write-down/(reversal of write-down) SFHUR1F &~ (R
of inventories to net realisable value 7HFEZ#E)E

AT FE (75) 123
Total amount recognised as cost of B iR A ERK A
sales Z KR 94,631 79,027
Auditor’s remuneration % 25 B0 B < 930 400
Depreciation e 13 8,501 9,456
Loss/(gain) on disposal/write-off HE s -
of items of property, plant and B E & EEIEE
equipment* ZEBB, (M)~ 419 (75)
Reversal of impairment of an other E b B WG TERLE
receivable* o 301 (63) -
Minimum lease payments under LEHER T
operating leases HERR 49,829 40,942
Contingent rents under operating KEMER K
leases NS 1,322 618
51,151 41,560
Employee benefit expense (excluding & 8 1& FIF X
directors’ and chief executive's (TBEEES
remuneration (note 8)): N (MT5Es)) -
Wages, salaries, bonuses and TE -#H4% -
allowances TE4L o £ Bh 37,813 31,530
Pension scheme contributions R F SR
(defined contribution schemes) (FREHARETE) 1,628 1,379
39,441 32,909
Foreign exchange differences, net ERER  FHE 177 (594)
*  The loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, plant and * HE& /MiEWE BELRREER 2 FHEBIMA
equipment and reversal of impairment of other receivables REMBEWRIBREZEE DG AZeER
are included in “General and administrative expenses” REME2EERRRALI—RRITHRAX]

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVFE’S

REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration of the Group
for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

8. EERFEMTHAEMS

REB R ES LR (T EmRA)
BB R AEGIE383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ (c)&(f)
FARBEAR (BRBEFMNDER) R
PIFE2HABEERFARAEEEERTR

TTBRABMEWT

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FE T
Fees we 223 -
Other emoluments: Hiub 4 -
Salaries, allowances and e R REIBIEA
discretionary bonuses 4,597 3,992
Pension scheme contributions BIKEETEIHEHE
(defined contribution scheme) (TrHzsta) 36 36
4,633 4,028
4,856 4,028

(a) Independent non-executive directors

During the year, Mr. Ng Hoi Yue, Mr. Chiu Kin Fai and
Ms. Chan Yee Man were appointed as independent
non-executive directors of the Company on 8 January
2018.

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) BYUFHITES

FRN - MBTEE HEELER
fR &% B+ M2018E1 ASA EE T
ARNRRZBYIERNITES -

TR ENBUFATESFCAS

0

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

THE T FHE T

Mr. Ng Hoi Yue hAETxEE 41 -
Mr. Chiu Kin Fai RIS e 4 41 -
Ms. Chan Yee Man Rt 41 -
123 -

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2017: Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

8. EERFEMHBAEME (&)

(b) BTESERITETHAER

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
discretionary scheme Total
Fees bonuses contributions remuneration
e 2R BURE
wHe EBBREA IR B & 48 %8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T FE T FHET FHET
2018 20184
Executive director and HITEEN
chief executive: FEBTHASR:
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky L 25 2,780 18 2,823
Executive directors: HITEE -
Mok Fung Lin, Ivy BgE 25 1,817 18 1,860
Wong Chi Fai =EE 25 - - 25
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa 3t &(4% 25 - - 25
100 4,597 36 4,733

Salaries,

allowances

discretionary

g 2R
REIRIEAL

and Pension
Total

remuneration

scheme
contributions
BiKE
sTEIMH K
HK$'000
FTET

bonuses

B < 48 58
HK$’000
TER

HK$'000
TERT

2017 20175
Executive director and WITESR
chief executive: FETHASR:
Ng Koon Keung, Ricky R 58 2,484 18 2,502
Executive directors: WMITESE
Mok Fung Lin, lvy SR 1,508 18 1,526
Wong Chi Fai B EE - _ _
Fan Man Seung, Vanessa SBEE - - -
3,992 36 4,028

There was no arrangement under which a director or
the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

TR BMESFATBETHRAER
A 1R %2 B R Bk R B A 2 A AT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two directors (2017: two directors), details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2017:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

e R RBIBIEA

Salaries, allowances and

LEReEHESR

R ALBALREFEEREMA
EE (20176 MAEE)  ABWSHE
W X8 - Hip =4 (20174 : =
B)WFARAEFRFEBTRARZ
SEHEERFRAZMSHEMT

2018 2017
HK$'000
TAT

HK$’000
FTERT

discretionary bonuses 3,169 2,790
Pension schemes contributions BRIRE B 147 142
3,316 2,932

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

et T IBERNIFESTRIFETET
BABZESHEBEABLT :

Number of employees

BEAH
AONES]
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,0007% 7T 2 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,00178 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 1 1
3 3

During the year, no emolument was paid or payable by the
Group to the non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for the loss of office (2017:
Nil).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

10.INCOME TAX
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2017: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year.

10. FRB%H
EBNEHROEREFRNERTBELEZR
TIER TR AL £16.5% (20174 ¢
16.5%) 1E N # -

2018 2017
HK$'000
THET

HK$'000
FTiER

Current — Hong Kong BVHR— &%
Charge for the year FRETH 4,661 6,128
Overprovision in prior years BEFEBREREG (125) -
Deferred (note 21) IERE (Kt5E21) (467) (701)
Total tax charge for the year FAMEZ LB 4,069 5,427

BREBEBRERE (RRB] RAKE KD
REMBERBMERDEER AERE)
ot BE AR BRI A A 2 B IR B S B4R
AREERMEFARE ZHA YR

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate (statutory
tax rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company and
the majority of the Group’s operating subsidiaries are

domiciled) to the tax charge at the Group’s effective tax g
rate is as follows:

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$’'000

FET FHET

Profit before tax & #2 B ) 12,546 35,572

Tax expense at the Hong Kong WMEBEEHRE16.5%TE

statutory tax rate of 16.5% ZFRIER S 2,070 5,869
Adjustment in respect of current tax i@ 1% B R B0 HAF 18 9 2

of previous periods (125) -

Income not subject to tax BmEHT WA (50) (589)

Expenses not deductible for tax AR 2,221 187

Others Hh (47) (40)
Tax charge at the Group's effective EAREEETRHERTE

tax rate 2 RIES 4,069 5,427

I1.DIVIDEND In.RE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET

FTERT

Interim — HK$0.12 (2017: Nil) FRERRR B — g RR @R

per ordinary share 0.127% 70 (20174 « &) 72,000 -
Ulferts International Limited B{t BB R A 5 91
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

92

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE

TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$8,477,000 (2017:
HK$30,145,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 633,972,603 (2017: 600,000,000) in issue
during the year, as adjusted retrospectively to reflect a
share subdivision of the Company during the year (note 22).

In determining the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue, the share subdivision of the Company
during the year was deemed to have been completed on 1
April 2016.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in

issue during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

Earnings ZR

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent used in the
basic and diluted earnings per

share calculations

BB AR

AAEEBREARREETRN
P& QR EBRES

12.

NAEERESRERS ARMN
BRERN

t&%$&ﬂﬁ@ﬁmﬁimﬂﬂﬂ%
B ED A ARG R 518,477,000
(2017¢ 30,145,000 L) KFAE
BT % B IR 0 39 £1633,972,603 %
(2017¢ 600,000,0008%) 57t & » & &

HED R PNY ) WIN/N TW%W& T2
D IF48 (M 5E22) °

“3?

T

FIIF”

RETEBITEBRMNE TS K
NRARFEARNET2ROFABESR AR
2016F4F1HE &5 °

K& ERE E20185F K2017F3H31H
HFEEYTEAEEREER2ERTE

TIRREFESRERARETRMNZ
#5

AONES]
HK$’000

2017
HK$'000
TAT

FTERT

8,477 30,145

Number of shares
B EE

Shares Bﬁfﬁ

Weighted average number of ordinary &t & &I E K K #5525
shares in issue during the year used  (£&3B 3 FAE U KA Q7]
in the basic and diluted earnings RERNETZRGFH)
per share calculations, as adjusted FrAzEAEETEBR
retrospectively to reflect the share N FE I 15 81

subdivision of the Company during
the year

633,972,603 600,000,000
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
improvements

13.Y% - BMERKRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor
equipment vehicles Total

HE BRW-XB

NE%E e AR At

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TR TR TR

31 March 2018 2018%3A31H
At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017: R2017F3A318 K
2017F4A18 :

Cost P A 44,684 12,223 2,077 58,984

Accumulated depreciation 2IE (32,489) (11,813) (2,035) (46,337)

Net carrying amount REFE 12,195 410 42 12,647
At 1 April 2017, net of R201754A/18

accumulated depreciation MR R E 12,195 410 42 12,647
Additions NE 12,754 611 41 13,776
Disposal/write-off HE /i (536) @ - (543)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNEEE (8,209) (209) (83) (8,501)
At 31 March 2018, net of accumulated R2018E3A31H -

depreciation M 25T E 16,204 805 370 17,379
At 31 March 2018: M201863H31A

Cost X A 51,087 12,536 2,198 65,821

Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (34,883) (11,731) (1,828) (48,442)

Net carrying amount EEFE 16,204 805 370 17,379
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Leasehold
improvements

HE
ES D
HK$'000

TR

13. % - BERRE (&

Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment
B #£B
L] AE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TEL TAET

Motor
vehicles Total

31 March 2017 2017%3A31H
At 1 April 2016: 720164 A18
Cost XA 46,807 12,113 2,217 61,137
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (27,407) (11,588) (2,011) (41,006)
Net carrying amount REFE 19,400 525 206 20,131
At 1 April 2016, net of R2016F4 418 -
accumulated depreciation mnk2:tme 19,400 525 206 20,131
Additions NE 2,825 110 - 2,935
Disposalfwrite-off HE/ i (920) - (43) (963)
Depreciation provided during the year FRNINERE (9,110) (225) (121) (9,456)
At 31 March 2017, net of R2017F3A31H
accumulated depreciation M2 E 12,195 410 42 12,647
At 31 March 2017: 201793318 :
Cost XA 44,684 12,223 2,077 58,984
Accumulated depreciation ZEITE (32,489) (11,813) (2,035) (46,337)
Net carrying amount BEFE 12,195 410 42 12,647
14.INVENTORIES 14. ZE

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
T8t FHE T
Goods held for sale HIELEE R 44,226 32,944
94 Ulferts International Limited Bi{L BB AR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

I15. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables H 5 EWFIE

15. EZ ERRE
2018 2017
HK$'000
FHxT
4,473

HK$’000
THET

6,263

The Group’s retail sales are usually paid in cash or by
major credit/debit cards. The Group’s trading terms with
its wholesale, project and consultancy services customers
are mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance/upon delivery is normally required.
The credit period for these customers is generally one to
two months, or extending up to six months for major project
and consultancy service customers. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and
overdue balances are reviewed by senior management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice
date, is as follows:

AEEZTEHEBEURS AN
TEEAR/HMEREAXN - AEHE
BEMBEP, BREEFPRHEARBEE
PZESGRRIBRUEET ALK
EHEFP—REATRREN/RER
FOAGEE -REXPZEEH KA
—EMEA XMRETENEEEPR
wHRBER R&ZERENMEA -
AEE N RBEBEGEKRBE 2 BKRK
B UHRREEEENAHAER - K
SEYEREESRUREERTEET
MEARAEBERRAEE - BHE
WHERTER -

RBEHR AEEEHERFIBRE
ZRPZEEDIHMT

PAONRS 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHE T

Within 1 month —{E AR 3,713 2,045
1 to 3 months —Z==1@A 2,409 1,918
Over 3 months =@mAME 141 510
6,263 4,473

Included in the Group’s trade receivables at 31 March 2017
were amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of approximately
HK$221,000, which were unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and repayable within one month.

FE UL [B) Z B /B 2 R ZIB £9221,0007 T At
AKREBR2017F3831H 28 5 EIK
FIE - ZFEAERF THEREAR
—EARMEE -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

I5. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) I5. E5EWRE(E)

96

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

AERAECTREZE S REWZEERR D
W -

AONES] 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000

FTERT FTiER

Neither past due nor impaired BT 3F 260 HA 7R R (E 5,674 2,820
Less than 1 month past due B H DR — 1A A 137 1,094
1 to 3 months past due mEl—=={E A 263 105
Over 3 months past due BHEBA=EA 189 454

6,263 4,473

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a number of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to
a number of customers that have a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment
is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances
are still considered fully recoverable.

16. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

MIFBE T ER(E REKRES L&
MEHBRCHCEFPER -

EAMEREREEEFIRTIESZRN
AEEERUFEBZEFPBER - BRE
BEEZUEEREPNERDBRE R
2EWRE REEEER ARRES
BRI ELBRZEERELRERE -

ANRE - REREMERRE

RECEIVABLES
2018 2017
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FE T
Prepayments FE TR 2,683 2,889
Deposits and other receivables 124 N E b B Y Fi 8 20,370 17,571
23,053 20,460
Impairment B (115) (178)
22,938 20,282
Less: Non-current portion B IEREE S (11,361) (6,762)
Current portion mENER 11,577 13,520

None of the financial assets included in the above
balances is either past due or impaired, except for an
other receivable which was fully impaired, with a carrying
amount before provision of approximately HK$115,000 as
at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$178,000). The financial assets
included in the above balances relate to deposits and other
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

The individually impaired other receivable relates to a
debtor that was in default in payments and the balance is
not expected to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

16.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the Group’s other receivables at 31 March
2017 was an amount due from a fellow subsidiary of
approximately HK$50,000, which was unsecured, non-
interest-bearing and had no fixed terms of repayment.

Included in the Group’s other receivables is an amount
due from the immediate holding company of approximately
HK$3,000 as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$1,000), which is
unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has no fixed terms of
repayment.

. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is
as follows:

TR GEERE-2 333 Ec
UK 2 Y B 2 ) 278 450,000 7t 5
A B 201783 A31 B = 5 b Ik
HIE R HEREEM S0 R mE T
1B HR -

R2018F3A31H M EEER A AR
T8 #93,0007% 7T (20174 : 1,000/ 7T) &t
AR B 2 H b JEWRIR » %3RS
BH - 2R LEBEEEHR -

17.ESZENRERENERE
REEEK B 5 EMNKERENZE
MBEAMI BTN

AONES]
HK$'000

2017
HK$'000
THET

FET

Within 1 month —@EAR 6,891 4,907
1 to 3 months —Z=={@A 70 3
Over 3 months —EAMNE 115 336

7,076 5,246

The trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and
are normally settled on 60-day to 120-day terms.

The Group’s trade and bills payables include amounts
denominated in the following foreign currencies:

BHRENRBENENZEATHER—
%G0B 21208 N&)E °

AEBEEHRNFARENRBEBEN
TASNEEHEZFOA

2017
HK$'000
THET

HK$'000

FET

United States dollar (“US$”) Ex(ZEmx]) 450 380
Euro (“EUR") Bt ([Bocd) 6,344 4,343
6,794 4,723
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

18. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

8. At BN RERETER

AONE:] 2017
HK$'000

HK$'000
TET TER

Other payables and accruals Hih N ERESTER 12,049 7,182
Deferred revenue IRFEW A 277 1,033
Customer deposits BRERE® 16,293 17,421

28,619 25,636

Included in the Group’s other payables and accruals is
an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of approximately
HK$1,626,000 as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$1,073,000),
which is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and has no fixed
terms of repayment. Except for the above, other payables
are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of one
month.

Deferred revenue represents cash received in advance
from the sale of gift vouchers. Revenue is recognised and
deferred revenue is released to profit or loss when the gift
vouchers are used by end-customers.

19.INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS

2018F3A31H &R Z [ 8B 2~ 7] 3K
T8 #91,626,0007% 7T (20174 : 1,073,000
B FFARNEBEMENRERENE
Be-zpBEhERE C2ERERTE
BHR KREAEN EMEMRES
8 FHHERAE—M@EA -

BEEBAEEHERFBAKRZAS -
AREmEFPEBRAFRER  MELT
WA TR LR B =48 -

19. st ESRITER

AONE:] 2017
HK$'000

HK$'000

Current BN EA

Bank borrowings repayable within MN—FNHILERKERZ

RITER

— R

one year or on demand
— unsecured

FET FET

19,798 -

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

AEBZRITEFATIEREE -

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TE T
Uss$ ETT 487 -
EUR & T 13,311 -
HK$ BT 6,000 -
19,798 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

19.INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 9. 5t BB TER(Z)

(Continued)

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings bore interest at
United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as quoted by
the relevant banks or the higher of the following:

— United States dollar/Euro prime lending rates as quoted
by the relevant banks

— London Interbank Offered Rate plus 1.95% — 2.5%
— Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2.75%

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings of the Group with
a total carrying amount of approximately HK$19,798,000
(2017: Nil) containing a repayment on demand clause have
been classified in total as current liabilities. For the purpose
of the above analysis, the bank borrowings are analysed
into bank borrowings repayable within one year or on
demand.

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities amounting to approximately HK$67,000,000
(2017: HK$32,000,000), of which an aggregate amount of
HK$32,811,000 (2017: HK$8,334,000) was utilised as at 31
March 2018.

Dr. Albert Yeung, the Deemed Substantial Shareholder, had
provided personal guarantees (the “Personal Guarantees”)
for the Group’s banking facilities in the prior year and up to
29 January 2018.

As agreed by the relevant banks, the Personal Guarantees
provided by Dr. Albert Yeung have been replaced by
guarantees from the Company upon the listing of the shares
of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(the “Listing”).

MR2018F3A31H @ SRITEFRILEBIET
FrEn,/ M TxERERERAMERUAT
BeEE

~ ABRGABREL,/ BLREEE
kS

—  WBERTRAIEREEIN1.95%E2.5%
— BEBRTRERBENMN2.75%
MR2018FE3A31H  RHEAENA

19,798000%73(2017@ #)EBEk
BREERAZAEERTIERCIES

Ta

REBAEERAZBE -RLRSTME
RITERD RN —FRAERIKREKRE
B o

MN2018%F3A31H AEE Z BT RL
B 48 %8 49 /567,000,000 7T (20174 :
32,000,000/ 7T) + E#H R201843 A31
HE 8 4 % #32,811,0007% 7T (2017
4 : 8,334,000/ 1) °

RBEFEREBE2018F1H298 1 - R
EXIBERRGIXRELHAKE ZRIT
BMERFEEAER(TEAER]D -

ARTRBRYRFHER L ([ L))
& EEMRITAE 0HERE LR
2 BABRE AL AREZ BRI
fe -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

20. PROVISIONS 20. B
Pursuant to the terms of relevant tenancy agreements, the REEBEBRERZKRE FNEFEARK
Group, as the lessee of certain properties under operating EHEBEBTAETWEZ2EZBAREBA
leases, has the obligations to reinstate its leased properties EHER RIEE BETEEERAA
to their original state or to a condition as specified in the MEZRRIZZBHEREMREZ
respective tenancy agreements at the cost of the Group at M BB AREBAE -

the end/upon the termination of the relevant lease terms.

Provisions for
reinstatement costs

BER AR E
2018
At beginning of year REA] 3,975 8,216
Additional provisions B OMNE A 3,326 300
Amounts utilised during the year FACEHEEHE (2,000) (47)
Reversal of unutilised amounts/ AEASERE hE
decrease in estimated provisions B 5 - (4,494)*
At 31 March M3HA31H 5,301 3,975
Less: Non-current portion B EmENE (4,060) (1,530)
Current portion mENER 7 1,241 2,445
*  For the decrease in estimated provisions, except for the o OBEEIBERSME  BEBREEE
decrease that exceeded the carrying amount of the related EEZRD (NEREBRERER) N
assets, which is recognised immediately in profit or loss, ﬁ%%’ﬁ%’ﬂ%0,000?ﬁﬁE@EﬁiZM7¢3ﬁ]31
the remaining amount of approximately HK$920,000 was H -2 B 186 & ZE R AN Bk ()
deducted (written off) from the cost of the related assets (fFEE13) ©

during the year ended 31 March 2017 (note 13).

The provisions for reinstatement costs were determined BEXNABEDRBEARANEEZLZ2ER
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the BRI AEREL 2 R& REET
directors of the Company with reference to past experience EX ZERILGEFEZELRESHEP K
and available information. The assumptions and estimates FERRH RER(WMER) -

are reviewed, and revised where appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

I 00 Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

21.DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are
as follows:

21.

ELEBBEE
EXHBREENFAZESHMT

Depreciation in

excess of

related

depreciation

allowance

HBLEBETE

BiE2IE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2016 201654818 513

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year st AF RN B % 2 ELEF B 10 701

At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 2017838318 k201754818 1,214

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss during the year 5+ AF R 18 z5 2 BT IE 10 467

At 31 March 2018 720183 A31H 1,681
22. SHARE CAPITAL 22. R AR

Shares gl

Issued and fully paid:
800,000,000 (2017: 100) ordinary
shares

800,000,000/%

BETRERMBRG

(20174 - 100/%) @A

2018
HK$’000
THET

2017
HK$'000
TER

110,337 6,065

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
[EEN
HK$'000
THET

ERITRHOEE

At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 R2016FE4H1H ~
and 1 April 2017 2017F3A31B &
201754 A1H 100 6,065
Additional shares from share % 13 37 48 FT 15 BE SN 19 (a)
subdivision 599,999,900 -
Issues of new shares BTG (b) 200,000,000 112,000
800,000,000 118,065
Share issue expenses RinEEITHEZ = (7,728)
At 31 March 2018 R2018F3A31H 800,000,000 110,337
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

22. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Pursuant to a written resolution of the sole shareholder of
the Company passed on 3 July 2017, every existing ordinary
share in the capital of the Company was subdivided into
6,000,000 shares, resulting in the subdivision of 100 ordinary
shares of the Company then in issue into 600,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company

(b) In January 2018, 200,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company (the “Offer Shares”) were issued at a price of
HK$0.56 per share under a share offer in connection with the
Listing for a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$112,000,000.

23.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 8 January 2018.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate
talented eligible participants to strive for future
developments and expansion of the Group.

(b) Eligibility

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme
include any director, including any executive or
independent non-executive director, any employee
of any member of the Group, any trustee of a trust
whose beneficiaries or objects include any employee
or business associate of the Group, any adviser or
consultant to the Group, any provider of goods and/
or services to the Group or any other person who the
board of directors of the Company considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed or may contribute to the
Group.

(¢) Maximum number of share available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme unless approved by the
shareholders
(i) Total number of shares available for issue under

the Share Option Scheme as at 27 June 2018
(i.e., the date of this annual report for the year):
80,000,000 shares.

(ii) Percentage of the issued shares of the Company
that it represents as at 27 June 2018: 10%.

Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
Annual Report 2017/2018 F %

22. RA& (&)
B3 -

(a)

RIEA D) M —RER2017F7A3R 8
BZEERZER  ARBIRAH KA
A & R4 56,000,0000% D - £
NA0ORE R Z B BHITEBRITAEA
600,000,000 A" 22 & & @ % -

7201841 73 » 200,000,000/ 2 A 7
MEBER((BHERMD)) BER MM
BT 2RO BEEMETR056E T ZE
BET - BRSRE BB B
112,000,000 7T,

23. B R RS 2
KA B FR2018F1 A8HE 4y — 18 i3 I &

BEI-E B

BREA S 2 T EGRREAMT

(a)

(b)

(c)

BRESTEZEN
EASERERS BRBERABES
BIZAERBSBREURLAERZ
RRBERRIEER -

&

BRESZAERSEERRER
SEEENKEARZANESZ (8
BREMRTESTRELIIFATES)
FEMRE XEALXAZHRE
RAREIMEEXAEXRTHEA
T2 ERAERZTEA  AREEMR
BERSREAA AEETAERR
SRR R AR BES
SERNBERASBAKREEER K
AREEFH BRI EMEMAL -

REBRESFETFRITZRE L
REE (BRIFEBRRSTHIE)

(i) MRIEMEKRE S MK2018%F6 A
278 (BIARGE3R B EY) o] F 317
Z D48 R : 80,000,0004% °

(i 7R2018%F6AH27H H{h KD 7
BETROZADL  10% o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR AR Y &

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

23. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant under
the Share Option Scheme

(i) not to exceed 1% of the shares in issue in
any 12-month period unless approved by the
shareholders; and

(i) options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors or their
respective associates in any 12-month period
exceeding 0.1% of the shares in issue and with
a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be
approved by the shareholders.

(e) Period within which the shares must be taken up under
an option
At any time during the option period in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme and such
other terms and conditions upon which an option was
granted from the date of grant of the option but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

(f) Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

No minimum period unless otherwise determined by the
board of directors.

(g) (i) Price payable on application or acceptance of the
option: HK$1.00;

(i) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors of the Company and will not be less than
the higher of (a) the Stock Exchange closing price
of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; and
(b) the average Stock Exchange closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant.

(i) The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Approximately 9.5 years (expiring on 7 January 2028)

No share option has been granted under the Share Option
Scheme since the adoption date of the Share Option
Scheme.

(d)

(e)

()

(9)

(h)

()

23. BT Bl (2)

BRESAETSESEKSHEE

WERERS ER

() BROFERRBLAE  TRIEEM
12 A PRATSEBE 1T
Betnz1% : &

(i) FEA12@E A BEAmE B R
REBUFATEEFAHEES
BZBBEARD ZERE &
HMBEEITRMZ01%RERA
i 185,000,000/ 7T 7B £& fx R it
JHE o

1TEMR IR RERR IR IR 40 2 B PR

RELBERZEESEEREERZ
AR IR MERERLE 26
H A 6K B R A PTR] < B A HRR
W2 ERERE - EREARRT
TRBBR L B R 105 -

BRETENLAFAZREMR

BRIEEERTET TAYLER
52 HABR o

(i) BR AR A s R B AT R B
BHME - 1.008 7T

(i) MZASK A B SRBB AR Z
HIfR - X B At28H A
K

(i) ERRSEBANFAEHER
EEMR : TER -

BETEEZEE
TEENHARREZTSETE @
TRERTIREE : (REHA
HIAR AR I fp 2 B P& R (b)
REZFHBEHAMRAEEXAARR
A B 4 2 S 15 Hgp 22 i Y B

BRETE B TR
#7959 (FA20281 B7R B H) o

BB AT S8R H I - B E AR
REBAE S ER L -
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S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

24.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 4. ZRERERERME

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEFRERS
During the year, additional provisions for reinstatement FA-RAEEETHRAYEME
costs in respect of certain leased properties of the HZBEEKRABIELBEINEERLD
Group amounting to approximately HK$3,326,000 3,326,000/8 7t (20174 : 300,0007%
(2017: HK$300,000) were recognised and these TC)  BEEAFEERAAREEEREY
amounts were recognised as part of the cost of related ¥ BERSJERKEAz -89 I
property, plant and equipment of the Group and RERZNA/EAEEZHEMEE
reflected as additions to leasehold improvements of the BIRE o

Group during the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the cost of B Z2017F3A31HLEFE - AR
certain items of property, plant and equipment relating SHEERD  BERKANE TEEG
to certain provisions for reinstatement costs totalling BEZHETYE BERREHKA
approximately HK$920,000 was written off as a result of & £ 49920,0005# T MY o
a decrease in the estimated provisions.
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) METBELZEBZEH
activities
Bank
borrowings
SRITIER
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2017 F201744 A 18 -
Changes from financing cash flows HEREREZE 19,798
At 31 March 2018 K2018F3H31H 19,798

[ 04 Ulferts International Limited Bi{L BB AR A 7
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

25. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 25 REHELTHE

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, retail
stores, warehouses and office equipment under operating
lease arrangements. Leases for properties are negotiated
for terms ranging from one to four years, and those for
office equipment are for terms of five years.

At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

EREBA
AEEREREEELHEARES TH
DG BEE RERMARE-
XZBAEEANT —EWF MBAR
e HBBRF -

R2018F3A31H  KEBETAIFHLE
BETARZEHEMNRBZIHEBER
m

2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET

TERT

Within one year =N 38,872 38,017
In the second to fifth years, inclusive S _-FZFRE(BEEEME) 38,779 20,720
77,651 58,737

The operating leases of certain retail stores also called
for additional rentals, which would be based on a certain
percentage of revenue/turnover of the operations being
undertaken therein pursuant to the terms and conditions
as stipulated in the respective tenancy agreements. As
the future revenue/turnover of these stores could not be
reliably determined at the end of each of the financial year,
the relevant contingent rental has not been included in the
operating lease commitments disclosure above. Certain of
the lease arrangements contain renewal options.

On 7 June 2017, the Group entered into a termination
agreement (the “Termination Agreement”) with a fellow
subsidiary to terminate a tenancy agreement (the “Tenancy
Agreement”) with the fellow subsidiary in respect of a retail
store of the Group with an original lease term from 1 April
2015 to 31 March 2018, with effect from 1 August 2017.

ETTEEZKEHETRMBEIES -
BT IR IR & B M E W ad AT AT IR R K MR R
BRI EEBRSRAEXE2ET
BOLWE - R % EEHNE M RE
RZRRWAEEBEERETE -
BWEEIABERFALBRE LS
MEAZEAR - ETHELHEREOE
B

R2017F6A78 - AEBBE—RRFA RN
BRARAFIKRILEHRE ([RIEHBZE] -
BRIEAEE-—RTEEHVREERA
20154810 £2018F3A31A 2 M E
W% - R2017FE8 A1 H AR o
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31 March 2018 201843 H31H

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) In addition to the transactions, arrangements and
balances detailed elsewhere in these financial
statements, the Group had the following transactions
with related parties during the year:

26 AR
(a) BREIB|mES M FFAFHRIZS -
ZHE RSB A E B E N R

Fellow subsidiaries ERME A
Project sales HEHEE

Rentals bicka
Reimbursement of administrative expenses 171 3 2 &+
Other related company* HA R AT
Project sales HEHE

Sponsor and financial advisory fees RERIBERE
Underwriting fee BIHE

BHEUNTRS :

2018 2017

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT FET

(i) 3,278 1,108
(i) 12,721 15,423
(iii) 1,464 577
() 891 -
(iv) 1,257 -
(v) 3,360 -

*

AY Holdings has beneficial interest in this related
company.

Notes:

(i) The project sales were on terms agreed by the relevant
parties as set out in the respective agreements.

(i) The rentals charged were based on terms as agreed
by the relevant parties as set out in respective tenancy
agreements.

(iii) The reimbursement of administrative expenses charged
by a fellow subsidiary was with reference to the costs
incurred by the fellow subsidiary.

(iv) The related company was appointed as one of the joint
sponsors for the Listing. The sponsor and financial
advisory fees were charged by the related company
based on terms as set out in respective agreements.

(v) A commission equal to 3% of the aggregate offer price
paid for the Offer Shares of the Company was charged
by the related company pursuant to an underwriting
agreement entered into with that related company.

I 06 Ulferts International Limited BU{LBIFR G R A &
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)
(b) The amount due from the immediate holding company
included in the Company’s current assets is unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

26 BEES RS (&

(b) HAKRAREEE il E S
BARAZRBEABKR 28RS
5% i R o

(c) Operating lease arrangements (c) ReEMHEZRH
At 31 March 2018, the Group had total future minim.um HRo018E3H31H  AEEREFRH
lease payments under non-cancellable operating AW B AT Y FAl By &4
leases of properties entereq into with certain fellow EETARSERENZEE T
subsidiaries of the Group falling due as follows: HRIE SR 0T -
2018 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
&It FHET
Within one year —F R 2,341 16,207
In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ -_FEE M E (BIEBEME) 3,780 714
6,121 16,921
The above future minimum lease payments and the EFRRRRERENREL LG ®
effect of the Termination Agreement thereon are also BTN H A B WK M 25 -
included in note 25 to the financial statements.
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the (d) *EEFEZEERAEHM:
Group:
AONK:] 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THERT
Short-term employee benefits HHEBERT 7,766 6,782
Post-employment benefits BEEE R A 183 178
Total compensation paid to NTEZ2EBABZ
key management personnel H e 7,949 6,960
Further details of the directors’ and chief executive’s %%&IgjﬁﬁkAfiﬂﬂ%ZE@ﬁ
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial BRI BRI S ©
statements.
(e) Pursuant to certain conditions of the Tenancy (e) BER2015F3A3MBE —RFA K

Agreement for a retail store of the Group entered
into with a fellow subsidiary on 31 March 2015, upon
the natural expiry or early termination of the Tenancy
Agreement (for the whole or an applicable portion of the
leased property) under certain conditions, the Group
could hand over the property (or the applicable portion)
to the landlord, on “as-is basis” condition as at the date
of the handover without reinstatement provided that
the Group should pay an aggregate amount in lieu of
reinstatement of HK$2,000,000 upon expiry/termination
of the lease term of the Tenancy Agreement.

MBARRIZEBASEBRZTEL
MM ERBZCETHRE BER
Z(HEMEZ2HRBERIG) &
RETHREBARERIIRATK IR -
AEBAURBRABHRARERY
¥ (SEAED)EEET MEFTE
REE IREASEANREER
BmoMESER/BRIEEIHAR
2,000,000 TERE o
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S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 26 A SR B (42)

(Continued)

(e) (continued) (e) (#&)
As further detailed in note 25 to the financial 0 B 7 R 3k I FEo5E — P RF
statements, the Group and the landlord agreed to AEER¥EREB2017F8H1H
terminate the Tenancy Agreement with effect from 1 BEETHEEWSZ AEERFALE
August 2017 and the Group settled the aggregate RHEEwEHBARLEERE TSN
amount in lieu of reinstatement of HK$2,000,000 with A #£2,000,0008 TR B BB A -

the landlord upon termination of the lease term of the
Tenancy Agreement during the year.

(f) During the year, marketing and promotional expenses fH FA —HREWBRABEESH
of HK$400,000 (2017: Nil) were charged by a fellow FHEZBERMBEE L ERZRE R
subsidiary based on terms as agreed by the relevant 400,000/ 7T (20174 : #E) o
parties.
27. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 27. RAREE
At 31 March 2018, contingent liabilities not provided for by 20183 A31H * NEB W KRR EH
the Group in the financial statements were as follows: RIEHBEZABEOT

AONES] 2017
HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FTERT

In connection with a bank guarantee BEIA—ZETEH 2 R1T

given to a landlord in lieu of rental BR URBETHE
deposit required under certain BERAECHeERS
tenancy agreement 2,535 -
28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 28. RERE S 2E&MTA
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EENeMIANBEHRZEBEN
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as N
follows:
Financial assets TREE
Loans and receivables
ERREWRIE
2018
Trade receivables B 5 W IR 6,263 4,473
Financial assets included in prepayments, &5t ATERI 1B « 24 K H
deposits and other receivables JEWHRIBARA € MEE 19,840 13,607
Cash and cash equivalents HehIBeZEY 83,385 39,818
109,488 57,898
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31 March 2018 201843 H31H

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 28. RSBIB9S 24T A (&)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities

EA =R
Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

BBMERATEZEREE

AONES] 2017

Trade and bills payables B o ENFIERENER 7,076 5,246
Financial liabilities included in other T A E b S FRIB K BT
payables and accruals BERANzERBE 8,053 5,690
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITER 19,798 -
34,927 10,936
29. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 29. AFERAFER®R

HIERARCHY

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts
of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
reasonably approximated to their fair values.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash
and cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
trade and bills payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals, and interest-bearing bank
borrowings approximate to their carrying amounts largely
due to the short term maturities/no fixed terms of repayment
of these instruments or the effect of discounting is not
material.

RBEERR AEEZeBEELESR
AECEEEAEMEEAFERSE -

EREERBBZAVFERIARBRE
BheRzRRRS CRARRBFREE
FROMN PRI AR ©

EEREECDFELFGE UGERe LR
FEY EHRWFR - FEATRNA
e hEMRYFBEAZEREE &
SRNFRANENRE G AEMEN
REREFERAZEBRABUALTR
RITERZ R FEDRRE ZREEMR
FFERARREIANBESANE
S EBRTERRRIVBEEATELE
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 30. I EREEEERBEK

110

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and cash
equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade and
bills payables and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The Group mitigates the risk by monitoring closely the
movements in interest rates regularly.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax
for the year ended 31 March 2018 (through the impact on
floating rate interest-bearing bank borrowings).

Year ended 31 March 2018

Us$ ETT
EUR BT
HK$ BT

B ZE2018F3H831HILEE

AEBEZIZSRIABEFERITRE
FEAeIBReFEY - LFeRTA
ZIBENRAB/AKBZEEXBEER
B AKEHEAEZHEMCEREENR
BE - WESEERFR  FFARRNFA -
e hEMRKFTBEAZEZREE &
ZENFIA RN REA NG A&
NREREFERAZEMEE BE
REERABEEEH -

AEBEeRTAELAZTRERSN X
B SNERR FEERREABED
R -EFghd RItREEZEAH
Rz BR - ARERRBALDT -

MEER

N 5% B T b X B BROK KR B IR Y B A R
BLARBRITEFBRB TG XREE)
ZER - AKEEBTHETEENE

AT REBEREZE2018F3A31H IEF
E2BBANRA GEREZBRITERZ
FE)HMEARENAEEBEE 2 B
}_g o

Increase/

(decrease)
in profit

Increase/
(decrease)
in basis

points before tax

AR B % A
‘g, Grd) Em CEd)
HK$'000

FHET

50 (2)
(50) 2
50 (67)
(50) 67
50 (30)
(50) 30

The directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
exposure to interest rate risk as at 31 March 2017 was not
significant.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT HERREEREERBE (&)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures primarily arise from purchases by the Group’s
operating units and certain monetary liabilities of the Group
denominated in EUR and US$, being currencies other than
the units’ functional currencies. For the year ended 31
March 2018, certain interest-bearing bank borrowings and
purchases of the Group were denominated in EUR, which
is different from the functional currencies of the respective
operating units. The directors of the Company do not expect
any significant movements in the US$/HK$ exchange rate
as the HK$ is pegged to the US$ within a narrow band.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change
in the EUR exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

2018 20185
If HK$ weakens against EUR fiw 78 7T K BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR fied & 7T A BT FHE
2017 20175
If HK$ weakens against EUR fis 7 7T 5 BT B2 (B
If HK$ strengthens against EUR fim 75 7T S BT FHE

M EE L B

REFBEAZRHGEERR - ZERRB
nggZK%@Z«(MDDLLMEﬁZ%KE%&
AEBEURTEETHECETEESR
BE(AIZSEEMNEEEUIINZEE) -
RNEE2018FE3A3THILEE - REF
TZETHBRITERRRE T AR T
HE BEBKEEN 2 INEERAR -

RABEFEHRELLBTERETE
BEMNEAKRE - FHRBTRITHE
ReR/ P MEEBERNLTE -

TRETRBEMREMBEMEER
RAZZBRT - AEER A G H
BOTEXRA LR 2 A EKE (HEEE

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms primarily with recognised
and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject
to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprises, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, and cash and cash
equivalents, arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in
note 15 to the financial statements.

ERBELATFEES) CHERE -
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)

in EUR in profit

exchange rate before tax
& ot BE = R %4 A )% F)
EFH (TR #m Ofs)

% HK$’'000

FET

(983)

(5) 983

5 (217)

(5) 217

EEAR

REBEERERVNBEERTZE=S

HETEEEE -ASEZBXKRAE FE

ﬁﬁfﬁfﬂa%fEEZ%ﬁi’JmLﬂ{mf

$} EI]]

BERR S o I 5h - REUCRIR A 0 ) IR
EEEEEETES mASEEYH
BB TA -

AEBEMEMEE (BREFARNRK
B -BehBEMERFBEAZEMEE
UERERRAEEEY) 2 EERRKE
HFEHEN ZARREMEE \EZZFI

AZHEEE-
0 5 MR B B (5
BB 2 5 BRI B R I 515
HE -
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain adequate funds to
meet commitments associated with its financial liabilities.
Cash flows of the Group are closely monitored by senior
management on an on-going basis, considering the maturity
of the Group’s financial liabilities and financial assets, and
projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

30. M ERERERAEREEK (&

RBETER
AEEEERBRABZEGAmEEE
TREABAMIALE AEERRER
EZEASEcRHAERESREE 22
HERLEEXRG 2 BARERE &
RELEERTYERRERE -

ARERBERAZ 2BABEBLRET
DARFTRARZHBMERDT

As at 31 March 2018

M2018%3A31H
No fixed
terms of
repayment/ Less than
on demand one year Total
EEEERD
PR—F At
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET
Trade and bills payables BORNTERENER - 7,076 7,076
Financial liabilities included in N EL At R A R T B AT
other payables and accruals BRANERAR 1,626 6,427 8,053
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FERITER 19,798 - 19,798
21,424 13,503 34,927

As at 31 March 2017

R2017%3A318
No fixed
terms of
repayment/ Less than
on demand one year Total
BRETERS
REREE PR—5 At
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER
Trade and bills payables BHENTARERER - 5,246 5,246
Financial liabilities included in other AT AR FR0B R JE AT
payables and accruals ERAZERERE 1,073 4,617 5,690
1,073 9,863 10,936

As at 31 March 2018, the above interest-bearing bank
borrowings with carrying amount of approximately
HK$19,798,000 contain a repayment on demand clause
giving the banks the unconditional right to call in the
borrowings at any time and, therefore, for the purpose of
the above maturity profile, the total amount is classified as
“on demand”.
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30. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

30. I EMEEEEREE (&)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors of the
Company do not believe that the borrowings will be called
in their entirety at any time and they consider that the
borrowings will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the corresponding banking facilities
letter and bank correspondence. This evaluation was made
after considering: the financial position of the Group at the
date of approval of these financial statements; the lack of
events of default, and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause, the maturity profile
of the bank borrowings as at 31 March 2018, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the effect
of any repayment on demand clause, is as follows:

As at 31 March 2018 20183 A31H

repayment/
on demand

RBESER (F)
@ B LAER AR EZHERBR
TEeRIARERKEBESRE  BERSE
KGN EERTTRE K R BRIRTT 2
ABEMHINPAEE - LA HDES
BIATE R MR - AN S B B 7%
WRAMZEFBMR  BENEMH A
SECHRBEEMALEAREZENR

REZERBREERRZBITERE
A R2018F3A31E ZRITEHERE
J%*%ﬁﬁ R N E B BB R R

RZFEZFRBFRMT

No fixed
terms of
Less than
one year Total

EEE

2RH e/

DPR—F At
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR
- 19,868 19,868

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

EXxEE

AEBEEAEEZTER T“#;EE1%$E
EEENEERFBELETAZE
BERRECEARLE LAS'Z%E%W&
BEERSHRREE-

AEERBEERAZECRIEHEEE
ZEBREBHEEEARE ﬁlﬁﬁmﬁo
ﬁﬁh&mﬁ£$ B REE T AL
BRNTFHREZRS L@ﬁ$%%$
B EITH D - KRB 22018F K2017F
3A3IAILFE $Eléﬂ§$za
12 BURSE Pl IR

Ulferts International Limited B{t B G R A T

Annual Report 2017/2018 &3

113



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A R BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H
31. R DB 2 MR &

RBEMRAAAADMBEMRREZE
RO

3I.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

114

2018
HK$'000
TAT

2017
HK$'000

TR

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RWBRARZEE 6,065 6,065
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents BekBSEEY 4 -
Due from a subsidiary NGRS 101,274 64
Due from the immediate B EZER A BIFIA

holding company 3 1
Total current assets REBEELE 101,281 65
CURRENT LIABILITY REBEE
Due to a subsidiary I B R R A 55 -
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 101,226 65
Net assets EEFE 107,291 6,130
EQUITY R
Share capital f% A 110,337 6,065
Retained profits/ REBEF/ (RFER)

(accumulated loss) (note) (P 2E) (3,046) 65
Total equity R 107,291 6,130

Wong Chi Fai Ng Koon Keung, Ricky
BEE RERE
Director Director

EFE EF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
S A Rk BT aE

31 March 2018 201843 H31H

31.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 3. R AR Z B BMRR K (E)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B ST
A summary of the movements in the Company’s retained ARBZRB B, (RFTEER) 28Hdn
profits/(accumulated loss) is as follows: T

Retained profits/
(accumulated loss)

REEF,

(RFTEE)
HK$'000
THET
At 1 April 2016 H2016F481H 70
Loss and total comprehensive FREBEREZEEESRE
loss for the year (5)
At 31 March 2017 and at 1 April 2017 M201793A31H K2017F4A18 65
Profit and total comprehensive FRRMRE2EWN ST
income for the year 68,889
Interim 2018 dividend 2018 F H HfZ B (72,000)
At 31 March 2018 7201843 H31H (3,046)
32. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 32. L E B B K
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for HT%%%&%%E R2018F6A27THEE S &
issue by the board of directors on 27 June 2018. BLfE R XA T -
Ulferts International Limited B{t B AR A 1 5
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MIBEBE

The following table summarises the results, assets and liabilities
of the Group for the years ended 31 March 2015, 2016, 2017
and 2018:

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group
for the years ended 31 March 2015, 2016 and 2017 were
extracted from the prospectus of the Company dated 16
January 2018. No financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2014 have been published.

2015
HK$'000
FET
RESULTS E

REVENUE A 181,347
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B B B 28,148
INCOME TAX EXPENSE FrisHif > (4,860)

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO ISYNSIEZF-PN
OWNERS OF THE PARENT JE 1 3 F) 23,288

TREY AEBRE £2015%F - 20165 -
2017 R2018F3AB B It FE 2 ¥E - &
ERaE:

N & EE £20159F © 20164F M20174E3 31
HIEFEZXE BERAEHEREEA
ANEBEA2018F1A16E 2 BIRER - A&
B & 38 £2014F3A31B L FEE 2 8
MK -

For the year ended 31 March
BE3A3HLEEFE
2016

2017
HK$’000
TET

2018
HK$’000
TET

HK$'000
TET

210,070 224,331 258,553
27,004 35,5672 12,546
(4,651) (5,427) (4,069)
22,353 30,145 8,477

As at 31 March

M3A31H
2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T8 T F8&T FBT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE

TOTAL ASSETS BEE 68,306 82,638 111,378 176,442
TOTAL LIABILITIES waifE (41,053) (37,884) (36,479) (60,794)
NET ASSETS BEFE 27,253 44,754 74,899 115,648

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO IS/NEIEZF =N
OWNERS OF THE PARENT JE/hHE = 27,253 44,754 74,899 115,648
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